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14 THE SUPREME COURT.

Before: The Hon. Mr. Justice K.G. Smith, C.J.
The Hon. Mr. Justice W.D. Marsh
The Hon. Mr. Justice L.H. Wolfe

Suit No, M. 53 of 1981

R. v. The Industrial Disputes Tribunal
Alcan Jamaica Company
Alumina Partners of Jamaica
Alcoa Minerals of Jamaica Incorporated
Kaiser Bauxitc Company
Reynolds Jamaica Mines Ltd.

Ex parte The Hational Workers Union Ltd.

R. Carl Rattray, Q.C., P.J. Patterson and Hugh Salmon for Applicant
A.B. Edwards (acting Solicitor General) and R.5. Langrin for the Tribunal
R.G.Langrin for the Minister of Labour (allowed to be heard in opposition)
J. Leo-Rhynie, Q.C., and W.K. Chin See for Bauxite and Alumina Companies

1931 - July 30, 31. August 5, &, 7, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 19,
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SMITH, C.J.

This is an application for an Order of Prohibition to issue
prohibiting the Industrial Disputes Tribunal (the Tribunal) from further
acting on the reference to it made by the anister of Labour on April 10,
1931, It challenges the jurisdiction of the Tribunal in the matter
referred.

The applicant, the National Workers Union (the Union), holds
bargaining rights in respect of certain category of workers employed to
the five bauxite and alumina companies (the Companies) who are respondents
in these proceedings. The companies are -

Alcan Jamaica Company

Alumina Partners of Jamaica

Alcoa Minerals of Jamaica incorporated
Kaiser Bauxite Company; and

Reynolds Jamaica Mines Limited.

By letters dated October 24, 1980, the Union served claims on
the Companies for new collective agreements. ldentical "'industry-wide"
claims were served on each of the Companies as well as separate "'local”
claims. The Companies, on their part, each made proposals to the

Union for amendments to the existing collective agreements due to

expire on January 31, 1921 for incorporation in the new agreements.
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Representatives of the Companies met with representatives of
the Union on November 11, 1980, for joint discussions of the industry-wid

claims. Up to January 22, 1981, five meetings had been held and by then

the Union had clarified the twenty-eight point industry-wide claims made on

each company. Simultaneous discussions in respect of the local claims we
being held between each company and representatives of the Union at the
local level, as it is called, i.e. at the site of each company's
operations.

At the sixth meeting on January 22, the Companies made a wage
of fer, without prejudice, for contracts for a duration of three years.
The Union had claimed contracts for a duration of twelve months and had

not quantified its claim for wages, claiming instead ''a substantial wage

increase.'” There Is no evidence of the rcaction of representatives of the

Union to the Companies' offer on January 22.

A seventh meeting was held on January 29. It is common ground
that a dispute arose at this meeting regarding the date from which the new
collective agreements would take effect when settled, resulting in the
sarvice by the Union of ''strike notices' on the Companies to become
effective in seventy-two hours. It is also common ground that this dispy
was settled after meetings with Ministry officials on January 30, February
2 and 3 at the Ministry of Labour. The strike notices were withdrawn.

Up to January 29 the parties had been meeting at an hotel in
St. Andrew, It was after a meeting at that location on that day, during
which the strike notices were served, that the first meeting at the
Ministry of Labour took place. Thereafter they met at the Ministry up

to March 25, when the last joint meeting took place. There is dis-

agreement on the evidence regarding the reasons for the change of location.

Mr. Lascelles Perry, who at that time was leader of the Union's team at
the meetings, states in his affidavit dated July 10, 1981 that "a meeting
was held at the Ministry of Labour to help to resolve the issue of retro-
activity' of the new collective agreements. In a further affidavit dated
July 29, he stated that the mecting at the Ministry on that date ''was for

the sole purpose of settling that dispute concerning retroactivity.”
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Dr. Keith Panton, the leader of the Companies' team, in his affidavit
dated July 27, 1501, said that at the meeting on the morning of January

29 ""there was a serious impasse!' over the Companies' &ffer in respect of

“wages and the Union's demand in that regard. He said that, as a result,

it was agreed that the intervention of the Ministry of Labour was
necessary because the expiry date of the existing agreements, namely,
January 31, was fast approaching. He continued: ‘'A meeting at the
Ministry of Labour had been set up for such a purpose later that day and
both parties had agreed to attend.!" After this, he said, the matter of
the effective date of the new collective agreements became an issue,
strike notices were served as a result and ‘‘the parties agreed to use the
already arranged meeting at the Ministry of Labour to try and resolve
this new matter of a strike notice. '

There is apparent support for Mr. Perry's version in the
affidavit dated July 27 of the Director of Industrial Relations, Mr.
Anthony irons, where he stated that '‘following the service of the strike
notice by the Union and the threatened closure of the bauxite and alumina
plants, the Ministry of Labour intervened; that the Ministry conducted
conciliatory meetings with the parties on January 29 and 30 and the strike

notices were withdrawn on January 31.% The verbatim minutes of the meet

at the Ministry on January 29, however, support Dr. Panton's version. The

recorded introductory remarks of Mr. lrons, who is recorded as being
chairman, are inconsistent with Mr. Perry's version. After his intro-
ductory remarks, the chairman asked both sides to give him ''their reading
of the situation as they see it'' and they weculd '"take it from there."
After Dr. Panton had given his account of the background, he (Dr. Panton)
is recorded as saying :-
' So that we are here at the stage, sir, where your

intervention is very crucial, and it is very crucial

not on the point simply of reaching a settlement per

se, but on the point that we do have a strike notice

and that will expire, if | am correct, on the st
February at about midday. "

On his part, at the end of his account in response to the chairman's invita-

tion, Mr. Perry is recorded as saying :
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"* Finally, Mr. Chairman, If it is the wish and pleasure

of the Ministry to try and get the parties to arrive

at a settlement for a new contract, we are available;

but we will not, Mr. Chairman, not re-negotiate the 1978

agreement: that is behind us, or will be on the 3Ist

January.

Both sides spent quite some time at that meeting, in terms
of words used, blaming each other for the delay which had brought them
to the eve, almost, of expiry of the existing cellective agreements
without there being any settlement of those agreements which should take
their place. insofar as the purpose for going to the Ministry initially
can be of any assistance in helping to decide the issue of the Minister's
jurisdiction, to be dealt with later, | prefer Dr. Panton's version,
supported as it is by the minutes, that the sole or primary purpose was
not the Issue of the effective date of the new collective agreements.,
I have no doubt, however, that this became the primary issue for settle-
ment during the unilateral discussions which, it is recorded, followed the
joint meeting and thereafter until it was settled on February 3. This
was the burning issue, insofar as Mr. Perry was concerned, when the joint
meeting was coming to a close. In what can perhaps be described as a
peroration, Mr. Perry is recorded as saying

"' Wie are quite prepared, willing and able to

try and arrive at a settlement before midday

on the Ist February. But if we are not so

Yucky, Mr. Chairman, so let it be. lLet

nature take it's course. Why should | now

enter intoc negotiations with the companies

about what it took us seven months to

negotiate the last time? ‘We are not

negotiating that; that is behind us. *

After this, the Ministry of Labour would certainly have been anxious to

have that issue settled first in order to avert a shut-down in the

industry.
After this issue was settled, some twelve further meetings
between the parties were held at the Ministry. Further meetings fixed

for April 2 and April 3 were cancelled. On April 10 the Minister

made a reference to the Tribunal in the following terms:
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" To determine and settle the dispute between
Alcan Jamaica Company, Alumina Partners of
Jamaica, Alcca Minerals of Jamaica Incorporated,
Kaiser Bauxite Company and Reynolds Jamaica
Mines Limited, on thc one hand, and certain
workers employed by those companies and
represented by the Hational Morkers Union on
the other hand over :

(a) thc Union's claims for increased wages
and other improved conditions of employ-
ment made on behalf of the said workers;
and
(b) the claims of the respective companies
for certain variations in the terms and
conditions of employment of the said workers, '
The letter dated April 10 from Mr. lrons to the chairman of the Tribunal

conveying the reference stated that it was made under the provisions of

section 11A(1)(a) of the Labour Relations and Industrial Disputes Act.

This reference by the Minister is the subject of the main ground

of the application in these proceedings. It is contended, firstly, that
no dispute existed between the Union and the Companies, which could be a
subject of reference by the Minister. Secondly, that the reference is
bad in that ''the Minister has referred as one purported dispute, matters
arising out of five separate industry-wide claims by the Mational Workers
Union against each of the Bauxite and Alumina Companics and five separate
local level claims against each of the five Bauxite and Alumina Companies,
the negotiations of which would have resulted in separate collective
labour agreements between each Company and the Mational MWorkers Union and
which matters cannot form part of the same reference without the consent
of the parties'.
Section 11A(1)(a) of the Act is in the following terms
" Hotwithstanding the provisions of sectioms 9

10 and 11, where the Minister is satisfied that

an industrial dispute exists in any undertaking

and should be settled expeditiously, he may on

his own initiative

(a) refer the dispute to the Tribunal for

settlement if he is satisfied that
attempts were made, without success,

to settle the dispute by such other

means as were available to the parties. "
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It will be seen that the existence of an industrial dispute is the
main essential for the exerclise of the Minister's powers, Section
2 defines "industrial dispute't as follows, so far as is relevant
“industrial dispute' means a dispute between one
or More employers or organizations representing
employers and one or more workers or organizations
representing workers, where such dispute relates
wholly cr partly to -
(a) terms and conditions of employment,
of the physical condition in which any
workers are required to work.
The first contention of the applicant raises the question
of the extent to which the Court is able to review the exercise of

the Minister's discretion, conferred, as it Is, in subjective terms.

The learned acting Sclicitor General, basing himself on Robinson and

others v. The Minister of Town and Country Planning, (1947) 1 A1l E.R.

251, submitted that once it is shown that the Minister has exercised

the discretion which the legislature has given him and that he has acted
bona fide the Court will not enquire into the exercise of that discretion.
There is no suggestion that the Minister acted otherwise than bona fide.
Mr. Langrin, for the Minister, was less restrictive in his approach.

He conceded the right of the Court to review the exarcise of the Minister's
discretion in order to decide whether there was any foundation of fact

upon which the Minister could lawfully have cxercised it, but submitted
that this should be done within limits which he formulated from Secretary

of State for Education and Science v. Tameside Metropolitan Borough

Council, (1976) 3 W.L.R. 641 or (1976) 3 A1l E.R, 665. He submitted that

it is clear that as long as there was a foundation of fact before the
Minister on which he could reasonably have excercised his discretion in
the way he did, a Court ought not to hold that his discretion was not
lawfully exercised.

Mr. Leo-Rhynie, for the Companies, would have us revert
almost to the restriction for which the Solicitor General contended.
He submitted that where, as in the instant case, the exercise of the
power impujned does not directly affect the substantive right of an
individual, the Courts have refused to interfere, notwithstanding the

/...
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fact that the repository of the power had taken into account irrelevant
matters or disregarded relevant matters, or had misdirected himself

on any particular point. The Courts, the submission continued, have
only interfered in such cases where the repositery had acted in bad faith
or capriciously. As authority for the submission, Mr. Leo-Rhynie relied

on R. v. Barnett & Camden Rent Tribunal, (1572) 1 All £.R.1185 and Secretary

of State for Employment v. A.S.L.E.F. (1972) 2 All E.R. $49. Basing

himself on these cases, Mr. Leo-Rhynie submitted that the exercise of
the Minister's powers under section 11A does not affect the basic
rights of individuals.

in his renly for the Union, Mr. Patterson accepted Mr.
Langrin's submission on this point and submitted, in addition, that
where Parliament has conferred a2 power on a Minister it becomes exercisable
only after all preconditions are established and Courts are entitled to
enquire into the existence or otherwise of the preconditions, Further,
a requirement that the Minister be satisfied does not introduce a purely
subjective test. The Court is entitled, he said, on the evidence before
it, to determine whether or not there were facts on which the Hinister could
be satisfied. Mr. Patterson disagreed with Mr. Leo-Rhynie's submission
that the exercise of the powers under section 11A did not affect the
basic rights of individuals, He suggested that the substantive rights
of the Companies, the Union and the employees were involved, as interven-
tion of the Tribunal will affect the right of free collective bargaining
between the Union and the Companies.

In my opinion, the correct principles of law to be applied
in these proceedings are those stated by Mr. Langrin, based on the
Tameside case. Mr. Leo~Rhynie conceded, in response to a question from
the Bench during the argument, that if there was no industrial dispute,
as contended by the applicant, the Minister's reference to the.Tribunal
was ultra vires. As | understand the judgments in the two cases on
which he relied, the principles they expound are not applicable in a

case where the exercise of the power is completely ultra vires.
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As regards the applicant's first contention, that no dispute
existed, it was submitted by Mr. Rattray that the proceedings at the
Ministry started as a continuation of the collective bargaining process
and there is no evidence that it changed its nature at any time up to
the time of the last meeting. This sutmission is based on the evidence
of dr. Perry in the main, who, in his affidavit of July 10, sald that
after the settlement of the dispute at the Ministry on February 3 the
Minister of Labour suggested, and it was agreed, ‘'that the Union and the
Companies would continue to negotiate at the Ministry of Labour;"' that
“neqgotiations under the collective bargaining process recommenced at the
Ministry of Labour’ and further meetings were held on eleven days there-
after, which he identified, up to March 30; that at the time of the
reference ''the parties were encaged at the Ministry of Labour in the
collective bargaining process and were considering the proposals of
each other for the purpose of arriving at a collective labour agreement;'
and that "'the negotiations had not arrived at any impasse since the
only dispute, to wit, the question of retroactivity, had been settled
by the parties on the jrd February, 18%1.¢

In his affidavit of July 27, Dr. Panton referred to
conciliation meetings between the parties at the Ministry under the
chairmanship of the Birector of Industrial Relations on the issue of the
new collective agreements; to the fact that at these meetings numerous
attempts were made by the Director and his deputy to "conciliate the dis-
pute'; and that the representatives of the Union ‘'appeared less and
less concerned about attending the meetings and making a serious effort at
settling the dispute.'t Mr. Rattray pointed tc passages in the minutes
of the meeting of Fekbruary 26 and March 24 and 25 on the basis of which
he submitted that it was clear to Dr. Panten that what they were engaged
in, though they were at the Ministry, was the process of collective
bargaining. in all these passages Dr. Panton was recorded as using
the word "‘bargaining’. Reference was riade by Mr. Rattray to the
definition of 'collective bargaining' in section 2 of the Act and to

references to the process of collective bargaining in clauses 16(i) and 15

€/(




IA

- 1) =

dispute or difference' it was not necessary for the Privy founcil to
express an opinion on #ir. Justice Archer's definitinon of '"trade disnute!',
Sc, the authority for Mr. Rattray's contention remains that of that
learned Judge.

The Lahour Relations and Industrial Disputes Act does not
define "'dispute’. Though in his reply Mr. Patterson submitted that
in an industrial context dispute connotes a state of combat or
aggression, there is no evidence Lefore us that it has acquired that
special meaning. 'NDecadlock’’ means “'complete standstill' (see the
Oxford English Dictionary). If this is the meaning that 'dispute’
bears in the Act then it would be pointless prescribing a procedure
whereby parties are to endeavour to settle disputes between them by
negotiation, The ordinary dictionary meaning of ''dispute’ does not
include ''deadlock! and there is, in my apinion, no justification for
giving it this special meaning in the Act. ! would have expected it
to be defined in the Act if it was intendad that the word should have
a meaning other than its ordinary meaning. it seems to me that there
is nc justifiable basis for the fear exrressed durine the argument that
if “dispute' is not given the restricted meaning sujgested the right to
free collective barvaining Yenshrined in the Act and the Code’ will be
negated. In every case in which the Minister is given the power to
refer an industrial dispute to the Tribunal for settlement, he is
expressly enjoined to exercise the power only after he is satisfied
that attempts were made, without success, to settle the lisuute by
such other means 35 were available to the parties (see sections 3, 10,
11 and 11A). This clearly leaves parties free to exhaust the collective
barcaining process.

The Director of Intustrial %elatinns, Mr. lrons, is accepted
by all the parties to these proceedings as an experienced officer in
his field. Indeed, it is agreed that hc was involved in the con-
ciliation nrocess leading to the collective agreements between the Union
and the Companies which expired o January 21. In his affidavit, Mr.

lrons said that cne of the conditions of the settlement of the dispute
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regarding the commencing date of the new agreements was that further
mectings 'to settle the many unresolved matters should be conduciaed at
the Ministry' . It was submitted by Hr. Rattray that if what was
continuing at the Ministry was collective bargaining in order to arrive
at collective agreenents then, whatever name is given to the Hinistry
official, what was happening at the Ministry was not am attempt to settle
a dispute. Reference was made to passages in the minutes of meetinas
on February § and 25 and March 25 and it was said that in the context as
seen in the minutes the Ministry was using procedures to which it was
accustomed in conciliation but, in fact, there is no indication thst
conciliation was taking nlace. This submission is not only bold, it is
clearly seif-contradictory, 1t was made in the face of an affirmative
answer given at the meeting on Fehruary 28 by lr. lrons to Mr. Llovyd
Coodleigh, then leader of the Union's tean, who had asked: ‘'“Are we in
the process of conciliation, sir?! Of course, an admission that
conciliation was taking place is an admission that crllective barsaining
had ceased and that a dispute had arisen. sven if the Union's contention
is right that collective bargaining and disputation are incompatible.

Mr. lrons depesed that the further meetings at the Ministry,
i.e. from February 9, were conducted under his chairmanship in the
capacity of conciliator. He said, in paraqraph 11 of his affidavit :

ii

Some of the mectings were joint mentings, but the
atmosphere was such that unilateral mectings had

to be conducted in scparate rooms at the Ministry,
i.e. | would talk to one side endeavouring to

reach 2 settlement on poiints in dispute and would
then talk to the other side and endeavour to persuade
them tc accept the scttlement or reach some form of
accentable compronise. "

The minutes of the mectings exhibited to his affidavit amply support
Mr. lrons' evidence that the meetinags from February 9 were conciliatory.
Indecd, as indicoted above, counsel admitted that the conciliation

procedure was used during these meetings. Mr. lrons deposad as follows,

in paroqraphs 16 and 17 of his affidavit

" 16. Twelve conciliateory meetings were held at the
Ministry between February 9, 1931 and 30th Harch, 1531 -
all under my {hairmanship, and from my neutrzl and
confidential position as conciliator, it became
increzsingly clear to me that there was no nossibility
then or within the reasonably faresecable future cf
the parties resolving the dispute themsclves or by
means of the conciliatory services of the Ainistry.
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17. Up to that time no real proaress towards a

settlement had been made, as the difference between

the propossls of the partics appeared irreconcilable. !

In my judement., the incscanable conclusion from the evidence
before us is that thers was a dispute in existence which had reached
a deadlock. So thot even on the Union's definitinn of that word there
wes A dispute. At the meeting on February 9, tr. Perry, for the Union,
is recorded in the minutes as saying

“ Mr. Chairman, thzre is no way, absolutely no way

we will settle a three year contract for any amount

remotely close to $17.700. In fact., Mr. Chairman, you

could not even add them and get a figure, it would

be closer if you multiply to come up with o figure

that would be closer to our expectations than adding

them, So we feel at this stage that the input of

the Ministry will bring reascn to bear on our

colleagues across from us to let us have 3 fair,

rzasonable and just settlement. I do not believe

at this tims we need to elaborate. I am sure

you would want to speak with them outside. *f
These remarks were in respect of the Companies' offer of January 22,
exhibited as "K.S.P. 117 to Dr. Panton's affidavit. If there was no
conclusive evidence hefore, certainly this shows in the clearest pessible
terms that there was a dispute which the Ministry official was being
invited to conciliate.

There is nothing to indicate that the Union ever budged from
this apnarently fixed position. Until March 25 the Cowpanies di< not
vary their offer, maintaining that thay wished a reasonzhle response from
the Union before they could do so. The Union did not oblige. Dr. Panton
is recorded as saying, during the meeting on February 2, that the Union
had made it clear that the offer of the Companics (of January 22) was
no bhasis for negotiation. The fact that the Union maintained an
apparently fixed rosition is not affected, in my opinion, by the fact
that its officers sought informaticn or explanation from the Companies'
representatives regarding the way in which the offer would apply to
claims other than wages. The fact is that the wags offer was rejects!
out of hand, When Hr. Goodleigh took over leadership of the Union's
team from Mr. Perry on February 26, his attitude towards the Companies'

offer of January 22 was that the Union would not accent a response to

its claims in that form and that what wos wanted was a response on the

/...
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individual items claimod. Dr. Panton eventually ohliged, hut did so
on the basis of the January 22 offer. The meetine adjourned without
Mr. Goodleiqgh givine a direct response and with the chairman appaaling
to hoth sides that when they met again they do so "in a mood of give and
take s¢ that we can make progress.

Mr. Perry's affidavit states that there were meetings on
arch 5, 6, 6, 12 and 17, but we have not secen the minutes of those
maetings, if there were any. There was no indication from the minutes

of the short mecting on March 23 that anv further prooress was made.

The meeting on Harch 2% opened with this statement by the chairman

" As has been suggestad by this side, and the Ministry
supports this, | think the time has come that we
should have face to face negotiations with a view
to seaina if we can break the impasse that exists.
I know as a fact that it is said that some people
feel that the Ministry has not done as best as it
should to speed up these negotiations, but | would
just like both sides to realise that the Ministry
can only function as best 25 both sides will allow
the Ministry te function, and, thercfore, the
Ministry needs the co-operation of both sides in
this issus. "

There had obviously been much unilateral discussions between the parties
and the Ministry since February 26. There was no progress made during
this March 24 meeting. The subject of discussion was the same, the
January 2% offer, and apart from charges ans counter-charges about who
was serious and who was plaving games, there was no result. The meeting
closed with the following axchanges -

MR, GOONLEIGH: He is not trying to be unreal.  They
have a position which they will not
disclose and they want us to move
first and we are asking the Chairman
te resclve it. We are open to any

suggestion to resclve it.

CHAT M AR ¢ I am aning tc brealk now for unilateral
talks te try and resolve it.

The minutes indicate that unilateral talks ensued.
The meeting on March 25 onened with the chairman expressing
the need to break the ice'’ on the question of wages and indicating that

his nroposals in this respect during unilateral talks the previous day

did not appear to have borne fruit, He appealed to both sides to make
an extra effort, enabling negotiations to proceed in a normal and proper

/oo
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manner. Dr. Panton agreed that something had to be done to bring the
situation to an end and indicates that as somebody had tc taks the
first step, the Companies were

Yaooogoing to try this one more time and we do
not anticipate that anybody. whether you or
the Ministry or anybeldy is qoing to come and!
ask us to make any further move without wie
begin to sse some amount of reality at the
bargaining table if that cannot be we may
as well pack up and go home and think of some
other way to resclve the issue because it
could not be resclved across the table,

He then tabled another offer, which is exhibited as K&P toc his

affidavit. Like the offer of January 22, it was conditional. It

still required a three-year contract. The offer in respect of wayes
was increased over the previous offer and separate offers were made in
respect of certsin of the frince benefits. There was no response at all
from the Union and the meeting adiourned with these words from the
chairman :

" YWhat | would hope ~ | won't ask for a respense from
this side now, what | would propose is that both sides
would consider their positions carefully, | would
expect when we next meet, and we will fix that date
before we adjourn, the werkers side, represented by
the Union will come forward with a2 meaningful position
so that we can finalise these neqotiztions because as
| have said before, this is the eleventh meeting and
! helicve that with arodwill from both sides there is no
reaszon why we cannot resolve this dispute without
further delav, so | trust that when we next meet the
workers' side will come with a meaningful positicon
that will enable the Ministry to conciliate this
matter in the least possible time, ©

The minutes record the agrecment of the partics to meet on Monday,
Harch 30,

For an account of what occurred on March 33 we must turn to
paragraph 13 of Hr. lrons' affidavit

" That on the 30th Harch representastives of the
Companies and the Union attended at the Ministry.
That in the course of the afternson the Union presented
te me what it described as revised proposal but con-
trary to the understanding arrived at on the 25th
March, 1931, stipulated that the revised proposal
should not be disclosed to the fompanies. That |
informed the Companies' representatives of this and
they were vocally displeased that the Union was
refusing to takle its proposals or to have them
discloscd to tha Companias.

/oo
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Or. Panton's affidavit makes it clear that thero was no joint meeting of
the parties, as had Dbeen arranged, though hoth partias attended at tho
Ministry. Two further meetinas arranged to take place on April 2 and

% were cancelled, as already stated. Thaere was nc further meeting LYetween
the parties before the Hinister made his reference on April 16,

I hold that there was a firm foundation of fact on which the
Minister could be setisfied that an Industrial dispute existed when he
made the reference. Mr. lrons deposed that he had kept the Minister
informed continucusly on the ocutcome of each meeting and the decreasing
possibility of arriving at a settlement expeditiously, either by the
parties themselves or through the conciliatery efforts of the Ministry.
The Minister must, therefore, be taken to have Leen aware of all the
essential facts known to Mr. lrons. Any suggestion that the existing
dispute may have abated when the Companies made their new offer on March
25 can be met by the manner in which the Union responded to the offer.
Mr. Irons saw the Union's revised proposasls in response tc the Companies!'
of fer of March 25 and was therefore competent and able to judge whether
the proposals would be likely to result in the reselution of the dispute,
having rcgard to the attitude of the parties at the conciliation mectings.
The Minister was entitled, in my opinion, to rely on the judgment of
this senior and experienced officer of his Ministery in this respect.

The question which now arisas is: What was it that was in
dispute? It is common ground that the Ministe} referred all the claims,
both industry-wide and local, and the »ronnsals by the five Companies as
the subjact-mattzer of the dispute. There is also no real dispute that
the local claims and some of the Componics' p‘rovosals were beinyg
discussed at the local level and would not have come before the Hinistry
except such of them as had industry-wide implications or unless the
talks at the local level broke down. it is, of course, also agreed that
the understandina between the parties was that there would not have been
final agrecment on the collective anreements until the claims, industry-
wide and local, and the Companies' proposzls were sattled. Mr. lrons

said, in his affidavit, that the conciliatory meetings at the Ministry
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ended in deadliock during negotiations at the industry-wide Jevel. It

was, therefore, submitted for the Union that matters were reforres
which had not reached the dispute stage, namely, lecal claims and
Companies' pronnsals,

i hold that there is5 & Lasis of fact upon which the finister
was justified in making the rcference in the terms that he did. As |
have endeavoured to indicate, the dis,ute first arcse out of the
Companies' offer of January 272, That offer was not limited to
industry-wide claims. Acceptance of it. as it stood, would settle
all the menztary claims both at the industry-wide and the local levels
as well as the Companies' propcsals. This comprchensive offer was
the subject of the Jdiscussions from the meeting on February % to that
on March 2k, So that when, as | have found, the dispute arcse on
February &, it can rcasonably be said that it was over the question
whether or not the Companies' offer shoul?d he accepted as mede. The
Companies' offer of March 25 was even more cownrehensive. It stated as
follows :

" Acceptance of offer is in settlement of all claims

at leocal and industry-wide levels, Claims not

referre: to herzin or in Company's local level

offer are considered dropped. %11 Companies'

proposed amendments, whether at local or industry-

wide lavel, are accepted.

As | have said, Wr. lrons had the Union's revised proposals in answer

te this offer. This is how the matter stood when the Minister came

te make his decision. The sulject-mattar of the ¢ispute was now whether
the Companies' new offer should be accepted as made as anainst the
Union's revised proposals. On the background of the conciliation
meetings since February 9 and the opinicn of the Ministry official on
the dim prospects of the dispute being resclved expeditiously or at all
by further collective bargaining or conciliation meetings, the Minister
was, in my judgment, justified in referring all the cl2ims and the
Companins' proposals to the Tribunal for scitlement.

It was contanded on behalf of the Union that if dispute
exists it is five separate disputes and not one, as separate claiis

were made on the five companies with a view to concluding five
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collective agreements. It was, therefore, submitted that the
reference was had as the relevant provisions of the Act did not allow
the Minister to refer the five disputes as one dispute; that the

Act does not contemplate a merger of separate undertakings for the
purpose of the exercise of the Hinister's powers. Reference was

made to the definition of undertaking’ and to the fact that references
to Yindustrial dispute” and Yundertaking' in sections &, © 10 and 11A
of the Act are in the singular.

This contention seemed to me hiahly technical when it was
put forward as in the way the bargaining and conciliation took place
no prejudice or injustice could be caused by the reference being made
as it was in one document rather than in five. It emeraad, howsver,
during the argument that there was a perfectly proper and valid basis
for thz makinn of the reference as it was made. As defined in the
Act, collective bargaining is permitted hetween an organisation
representing warkars and one or more amplovaers. The Labour Relations
{ode, which is authorised by section § of the Act, provides in clauss
16(iii) that collective bargaining may take pglace in relation to an
industry as a whole or a particular undertaking; and clause 15(iii)
provides that where practicable collective ajreements should he con-
cluded on an industry-wide level as this cnsures uniformity and
consistency throushout the particular industry. So that the pro-
cedure adopted in the necotiations between the parties in these pro-
ceedings was duly authorised. Further, the definition of "industrial
dispute’ includes a Jisiute between one or more employers and one or
morc organisations renresenting workers, it is nlain from these
provisions that an iadustrial Jdispute as distinct from several may
exist, as in this casc, between a group of employers in an industry
on the one part and a union rapresenting workers in that industry on

the other.

The submissions on bhehalf of the !nion seek to place another

obistacle In the way of the refarence under section 11A, It was said

that the section specks of an industrial dispute "in any undertaking',
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in the singular, and that the five companies togethar cannot be
said to be an undertaking as they are five separate undertakings.
There is, in my view, a simple answer to this. In authorisinn
collective bargaining by more than one emplover in an industry with

one or more oraanisations representing workers, the provisions to which

I have just referred clearly contemulate as many undertakings as there
are employars being involved in the negotiations. When, therefors,

a dispute exists in those negotiations the plural of ‘‘undertaking’ is
read for the singular in the section as the Interpretation Act permits.
An industrial dispute would then exist in undertakings in an industry,
satisfyiny the provisions of section 114, and could be referred if

the other preconditions are satisfied.

The final submission made on the contention that the

ftinister's reference te the Tribunal was bad was that the specific
dispute must be identified in the terms of refcrence. It was said that

the refarence as it stands is not definite because it does not identify

o

ent to say that a similar

the dispute in definite terms, It is suffic
point was made before the Privy Council in the Beethanm case and was found
be without merit. I am reospectfully of the same opinion regarding this
submission before us.

At the commencment of the hearing of the application the
applicant was allowed to amend the statement setting out the grounds
upon which it soucht relicf by adding the following further ground

"That the reference of the Hinister of Labour to

the Industrial Disputes Tribunal has exszired by

virtue of the prrvisions of section 12 of the Labour

Relations and Industrial Disputes Act, and the said

Tribunal is, therefore, no lonser competent to hear

and determine the issue and or to make an award

thereon, '
This aground is directed at the Tribunal itself and raises for decision

the preper interpretation of the provisions of section 12(1)(2) of the

Act, which are as follows
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*12(1)  subjest to the nrovisions of subsection {(2)
the Tribunal shall, in respect of any industrial disputs
referred to it, make its award within twenty-one davs
after that dispute was so raforred, or if it is
impracticabic to maoke the award within that period it
shall do so as soon as may be practicable, and shzil

cause & cory of the awar? to be <iven farthwith to

each of the parties an’ to the ¥inister.

(2} The neriod of twenty-one days specificd in
subszction (1) may be extended by the Tribunal -

(2) for a further period not exceszding
trenty-one days at the request of any
of the parties :
(b) for such further pericod beyond that
specified in parasrach (2) zs the
Tribunal may, with the careement of
the parties, determine.®
Provisions are made in sections 14 and 17 of the Act for appearances
before the Tribunal and for the summenine of witnesses and the pro-
duction of documents, etc. 5o theough the time fixed in section 12(1)
is axprassly limited to the making of the award; it imnliedly includes
the time for hearing the parties or their representatives and the taking
of evidence, where necessary.
| have found these provisions in section 17 to be extremely
difficult to construe and @y mind wovered back and Forth as the arqument
continucd. On the one hand, the acting Solicitor General submitted,
in effect, that so lony as it remained impracticable for the Tribunal
to make its award it continues to have jurisdiction to do so and is
not restricted by the fixed periods stated in the subsections. Yo that
even if the period of twenty-onz days fixed in subsection (1) is not
extended under subsection (2), the Tribunal continues to have jurisdiction
indefinitely, so long as it is impracticable to make the award. it
sgemed to me, when the submission was made, that the effect of it wruld
ke to render the provisions of subsection (2) nugatory. Mr. Patterson,
on the other hand, submitted that the “grace period™ as he called it,
in subsection (1) does not give the Tribunal unrestricted time within
which to make its award, He said that the provisions of subsection (2)

limit what can be regarded as ‘‘as scon as practicable'’ and that limit
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is forty-two days. I assume this means in the absence of an extension
under paragraph (b} of subsection (2). If he is richt then it seems

I

to me that the nurpose of tarliament in enacting section 114, which is
exrressly stated in subsection (1), would he defeated because if an
intricate dispute is referred and it became impracticable for the
Tribunal tc make its aword in forty-two days then the Minister may have
to keep on referring it every forty-twes doys. This certainly weouid
net make for expedition.

It scems to me that subsection (2) can only have baean
included to give parties, who know the intricacies of the matters in

-

which they are involved, the right to annly to the Tribunal for the
stated extensions where thay anticipate their inability to present their
cases to the Tribunal to enable it to give its award within twenty-one
days. This is the purpose suagsested by Mr, Leo-Rhynie for the inclusion
of subscction {2j. Where the period is extended under subsection (2)
the Tribunal is recuired to make its award within the extended period or
“as soon as may be practicable’’ thereafter if it was impracticahle to
make the award within the neriod. So the question remzins: if an
award is not made within twenty-ona days, or the extended period, 7 any,
does the jurisdiction to make the award continue indefinitely and, if
not, if the award is not made, when does the jurisdiction expire 7

Mr. Leo~Rhynie submitted that in order to decide the issue
raised on the construction of the provisions of the section it is
relevant to Jdecide whether or not the srovisions of subsection (1) are
mancatory or directory. He submitted that the autherities (which he cited
establish the principle that if on 2 proper construction of the statute
it appears that the legislature intended that non~compliance should
render the act invalid the provision is described as mandatory. on
the other hand, if non-compliance was not intended to affect the
validity of the act the provision is described as directory. The scope
and object of the statute are primary guides in deciding the gquestion,
the submission continued, and in resolving it the Courts have con-

sistently drawn a distinction betwesn statutes creating public duties

and those creating private duties; the cencral rule that has evolwad
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of the Labour Relations fode and he submitted that though a2 dispute
could arise in the process of celiective bargaining the process itself
was not disputatory; hence the submission based on the use of the word
“bargaining' by Dr. Panton.

Mr. Leo-Rhynie submitted that 'bargaining' and '‘negotiating'
are synonymous and interchangeable terms and are means by which disputes
are settled; that both pre-suppose the existence of a dispute and are
processes which occur after a dispute comes into existence. He referred
in this connection to the definition of '"collective bargaining' in section
2 of the Act, where it is dnfined to mean 'nejgotiaticns' between the
parties. He submitted further that the contention that collective
bargaining and negotiating are processes which ante-date and are
unrelated to o dispute is not sustainable, having regard to judicial
precedent and the scheme and purpose of legislation governing industrial
relations. He pointed, in particular, to the implied procedure pre-
scribed in secticon £(2) of the Act for the settlement of industrial
disputes, where negotiation is given as the first step, followed by
conciliation and finally by reference to the Tribunal. Though the same
procedure is prescribed for the settlement of ''differences’, in my opinion,
that provision can be given a sensible meaning in the context of the Act
only if '"difference” and "dispute’ in the section are synonymous.

Mr. Rattray contended that a dispute arises only at the stage
where there is a deadlock and that the minutes of the meetings do not
establish an irreconciable difference at any stage before the reference
was made. He referred to the extract from the judgment of Mr. Justice

Archer, cited in the judgment of the Privy Council in Beetham v. Trinidad

Cement Limited, (1960) 1 A1l E.R. 27k at 279, where the learned Judge

sald that ‘"the prime characteristic of a trade dispute is a deadlock and
the determination on the part of both sides to the dispute to stand firm.
A mere difference in point of view cannot by itself constitute a trade
dispute and it is necessary that the view on cach side should be persisted
in to the point of rigidity'. Because ''trade disnute’ was defined in the

particular statute with which the case was concerned as meaning ‘'any
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iz that the provisions of the former nre directory only while thosao

of the latter are mandatory. The authoritics establish, It was saic,
that in the absence of an exprzss provision, the intention of the
legislature is to be ascertained by weighins the consequznces of

holding a statute te be dirsctory or aandatory, fir. Leo-Rhynie sub-
mitted that upon the apnlication of thoze urinciples to section 12(1) ()

£
¥

and the circumstances of the caso this Sourt ou-ht to hold that the
srovision ns to time is directory with the consequence that = failure
to comply with the provisinn did not affect rhe Tritunal's jurisdiction
s¢ as to prevent it from herring the matter referred.

A

tn his reply, Hr. fattray did not dispute the correctness

of the rrinciples on which Mr. Lec-Rhvnie relied nor did he contend

thnt the provisions in guestion arc not directory. In view of this,

it is sufficient for me to sov that | asree with the submission and

hold that the proper construction to be placed on the provisions of
subscction (1) is that they are irectory. In my view, striking down
an award i the provision as to time is not strictly conplicd with would
defeat the whole chject intended to be secured by the enactment of the
saction. There is just one authority that | wish to mention in support

of this decision. In Grunwick Processing Laboratories. Ltd. v. Advisnry,

Conciliation and Arbitration Service, (1370) «.C. %55, lLerd Heith of
Kinkel said (2t paje 702) that the werds “'so far as reasonakly practicable’
represent a familiar conception and havae often been used by Farliament
to qualify an obligation which would otherwise to absolute. In my
opinion, that is the effact which the use by Parliament of the words
“as scon as may be practicable’ in section 12(1) has on tha provisions
as to time in the section,

The effect of kolding that the provisions as to time arc
directory is that if it »roves impracticable for an award to be made
within the relevant seriod the jurisdiction of the Tribunal to make it

continues beyond the peried, but the award must be made as soon as may

2

be practicable thereafter. ir. Pattzrson submitted that this does not

mean as snon as practicable 'to the convenience of the Tribunal.” The
/ e
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decisions that now have te be made are factual, namely: wes it impracticable

i

for the Tribunal to make its award in this case within twentv-one days? |If
it was, since it has not yet bheen made. can it still be made “as soon as
practicablie”? In view of this, it is well to quote some words from the
zech of Lord Ziplock in the Grunwick case to which we were referred by
M. Leo~Rhynie as, contrary to Mr. Rattray's submission, | consider them

aoplicable to the dacisions to be made. Lord Dizleck said (at pages 5¢1.602):
?In the context of the exarcise of statutory functions by a2
public authority the use by judnges of such expressions as
"reasonable’ or "reasonably nracticahle’”™ raisas the guestion
as to by whom the decision falls to bu made as to whoat is or
is not reasonable or reasonabiy practicable. Prima facie the
decision; which is one of fact, is che which the public
authority by whom the stotutory functions are exercised would
have jurisdicticen to deci<e for itself, and & court of justice
weuld have no jurisdiction to interf&re with its decision except
upon the third ground stated by Lord Sreene, (LR, in Associated
Frovincial Picture Houses Ltd, v. Ucdnesbury Corporation (1985)
'l K.B. 2%%, 229 the Tocus ciassicus in Which he sets out the
qrounds upon which the court can hold to be ultra vires and
void & decision of an administrative body made in purnorted
exercise of 2 discration which o statute has conferred on it.

!

The third ground stated by Lord Zfreene, MR, is as follows
Similarly, there may be something so absurd that no
sensible person could ever dream that it lay within
the nowers of the authority.
Mr. Rattray submitted that these principles de not apply in this case as tha
Tribunal has exercised no discretion which is being reviewed. I respect-
fully disaaree. Lord Diplock refers not to the axercise of a discretion
but to a factual decision.

i am in no doubt that the decision whather or not it is impracticable
for the Tribunai to make Its oward in a particular case within the prescribad

time is, initially at least,one for the Tribunal itself to make. 7 it

proves tn be impracticable to make the award within the prescribed time, it
fFallows, in my opinion, that as long as the Tribunal finds it impracticable

thereafter to make the award so leng will it be before the award can be made

s sopn as may be practicable. Ap:lying the principles stated by Lord Greene,

H.R., quoted above, the Court will have no power to interferc with the Tribunal's

ecision as tc impracticability unless the circumstances are so absurd that

Q_

no sensible person could ever dream that the Yribunal could reach the
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decision it did. Reference must, therefore, now be made to the facts
relevant tc this aspect of the case.

The affidavit of Hiss Marcia fowell, tha acting secretary
of the Tribunal at the relovant time, dated Julw 27, 1&3], states that
the Tribunal roceived the reference from the Hinister by letter dated
Acril 19, 1851, She does not say when the letter was received, but
a photo~copy of the letter exhiliited to her affidavit shows a date
stamp of April 13 and the initials "M.P.Y with the date April 13
written under them. Hiss Powall says that by letter dated Aoril 13
she advised the Companies and the Union of the reference and asked them
to submit within nine days of the date of the letter eight copies of a
brief “outiining the cause of the disputz alony with the conputation
of the wage fund. She advised them that a date would be arranged
for commencement of the hearing as scon as the briefs were received,

By letter dated April 23 addressed to the secrztary, the attorneys-ot-lsw
for the Comranies wrote to say that the Tribunal's letter of April 13

hao been received by three of the Companies only on April 21 and thot

up to the time of writing it had not been received by one of the
Companies, The Tetter succested that in thesa circumstances the [ime
tor delivery of briefs should not commence to run from April 13, The

i

attornays wrote to the chairman of the Tribunal on April 2% stating that
they anticipated Leing ablle to deliver their briefs during the following
woek. They sungested that in view of the limitations as to time
prescribzd in section 12 carly dates Le fixed for tiz hearing and such
as will enable the Tribunal to complate the matter without dalay and

within the time limitations imposed by the statute.
On April 27 the Tribunal reczived a letter dated Spril 22,
written to the Permonent Secrctary of the Ministry of Labour by the

legal officer of the Union. The lerter was copied te the Companies and

*o the secretary of the Tribunal. It acknowladied receipt of the
letter advising that the reference had besn made, It challenged the

?

authority of tho Minister to make the refercnce, contended that there
was no dispute in oxistence, warnad that the members of the Union were

suspicious of the stews proposed by the HMinister, indicated that the

£3
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Union had taken legal advice and warned that V"further pursuit of the

course proposed!!

will result in litigation. It demanded that the
reference to the Tribunal be withdrawn.

iHizs Powzll said in her affidavit that the Companies
submitted their brief by letter dated May 1. This was exactly 21
days since the referance was made, The Director of Industrial Relations,
Mr. Irens, replied on May 11. on behalf of the Permanent Secretary, to
the letter of the legal officer of the Union dated April 22. His
letter sugiested that the legal officer had not heen properly advisgd
on the facts leading up to the refercnce antd sungested that he advise
himseif properly and sce te the representation of the interest of the
warkers at sittings of the Tribunal. On thot same day (May 11) the
Comizanies, in a joint latter, wrote to the Pernicnent Sceratary commenting
on the Union's letter of Aprit 27, The joint lerter concluded by
exipressing concern that no dates had yet been set by the Tribunal for
the hearing of the dispute and stressing the neod far an expeditious
resclution of the matter. This letter was cozisd to the Union Hnd to
the secrctary of the Tribunal. The photoconv exhibited to Hiss Foweilis
affidavit bears Moy 14 as the date of its receipt. On Fay 1z the
secretary of the Tribunal wrote to the Union giviag the names of the
members of the divisinn of the Tribtunal who woere selected to deterwiine
and scttle the disnuta. The statutory chairmen of the Industrial Disputes
Tritiunal was tc be chairman of the Jdivision. The Jetter included a Turther
request to the Union to submit coniaes of their bLrief and asked that this

be done not later than May 20. On Hay 1% the Uninn, through its legsl

officer. wrote to each of the Companizs indicating a desire to resume

thy
¥

.

local level neqotiations, The attorneys for the Companies replicd on
their behalf on May 22 stating that 211 the claims hat been referred
to the Tribunal for settlement and that the whaole dispute must be
resolvad and settled there. Caniecs of those twe letters wers sent to
the secretary of the Tribunal by letter of the Companias' attorneys
dated May 26.

On Juna 15 the secrotary of the Tribunal wrete to the Union

e o o 0
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and the Companies advising that 2 division of the Tribunal had heen
selacted to determine and settle the dispute and that o preliminary
sittiny would bte held on June 17. On Jdune 14 the Uriion wrote to the
Commanies ir connection with the Companics' letter of May 11 and endad
vy appeasling to the Componies to comence neqgotistions of the new wages
and bencefits immediately “in the interest of industrial peacz and
harmony'- . The Companies reslicd on June 12 saying, inter alia, that
since the dispute had been referred to the Tribunal it would be ille
advisad to pursue direct neootiations without adhering to the provisions

of tha law and sugoested that both partias appsar bafore the Tribunel

as orderaed.

Un Vednesday June 17 a meeting of the Tribunal was held.
Hr. H.0, Thompson, president of the Union, represented the Ynion.
There ware representatives of all the fouponies and their sttorneys
nresent. The terms of reference were rcad at the request of the
chairman and the Union's representative, Mr. Thompson, was asked by
the chairman if they were acceptable to the Union. Hr, Thomnson's

response was that the Union was not 2 party to the terms of reference

and =s he had only received then the day bafore he was not in &
position then to say whethor they were accentable. Mr, Leo~Thynie

for the Companics indicated that the terms were acceptable, in responise
te a quzstion from the chairuan, The chairman then invited one of

the parties to apnly for an extension of the first statutory period of

twenty-one days, indicating at the same time that that osericd had long

since exnired. In response, Mr, Leo-Rhynie at #tr. Thompson
be asked tn say whather hz was in a nosition to respond to the invita-
tion in viev of his (Mr. Thompson's) earlier response with respect to the
terms of refarence. Hr. Thompson aroelonisad for beins unable to make

a comnitmeny, Ko nsked the Tritunal o give the Unicn time until

Honday as he thounht the Lnion could rospond then. The sittimg of the
Tribunal was zdjourned to recenvena on Tueslay, June 3. Hiss Fowell's
affidavit states that the Tribunal rosumed its sitting on June 33 but

[X]

ne resresentative from the Union attended.
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On July 6 the sceratary wrote to the Union referring to what

oceurred At the meeting on June 17 and pointing cut that no represcntac

tive of the Union attended on June 23, The lettor advised that snother

sitting had Leen fixed for July 7 and asks!

that the Union advise the

-y

secretary, for the Tritunal's information, whether the Union will attend.

tt also asked thot conies of the union's Lrief, which had been requastad,
be delivered as scoa as possible. The Tribunal sat on July & but was
differently constituted insofar as the workers’ representative was
concarned. The Companies were represented as before but there was no
representative from the Ynion. On the same day (July ) the Union
wrote to the Comnanics servinge antice of the withdrawal of labour,
effective 72 hours after 4,00 pom, on Friday, July 12, Tha reason
stated for this action was the Companiec' continued reluctance to return
to the bargainine table. On July 1D these proceedings were instituted,
I <do not apologise for rehearsing the facts in the detailed
way | have dene as the submissions made regarding the conduct of the
Tribunal cannot, in my view, be properly consideraed without a full
statement of the backeround of facts acainst which the submissions
are made. Mr. Rattray, in his renly, referred to the period batwoen
April 14, when the reference was made, and June 17, when the division
of the Trilunal Tirst sat in rasnect of the reference. He detailed
the events which oceurred durine that period and submitted that the
time schaedule showed somnolence rather than expeditinn. It was said
that, granted the invelved nature of the claims and Learing in mind the
express noed Tor expoedition, fallure to convene a meeting hefore June 17
shows either indifference or noglect to comply with the provisions of

the fct. 1t wos subnitted, further, that the Tribunal has failed after

ninety one days (i.e. the period between fpril 12 and July 10) to nrocee

“F

on its reference not because of any practical difficultics or because
is unaware of the time linit, but for reasons completaly unrelated to
the practicability of having the reference completed and the award made
in the given statutory periad. Finnlly, it was said that using even

the strictest criteria ne sensible person could hold, on the facts

/oo
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disclosed in the case, that a tribunal which after ninety-one days
has not yet commenced to hear the evidence could wassibily estallish
that any award madsz now was as scon as practicable after s nerind of
twanty-cne days, which expired on Hay 1.

In my opinion, a careful examination of the facts before
us will show that the strictures directed at the Tribunal in these
submissicns are not justificd, The facts befcore us include an
affidavit from the acting statutory chairman of the Industrial

A i

Disputes Tribunal, #ir. Leonard Mead Tomlinson, dated Aunust 5,

1981, sir. Rattray soys of this affidavit that it does not address
itself to riving any accentable Tacts upon which can be Lased a
determination that the award can now be mzle as soon as  practicable
after twonty-one days. We shall see whether it does or not.

Section 20 of the Act gives the Tribunal the liberty to
regulate its procedure and proceedings 2s it thinks fit. Mr.
Tomlinson stated in his affidavit that the Tribunal has cstallished
as part of its procedure the submission of bLriefs by parties to
disputes. This, he says, assists in crystalisina the issues and
the evidance to be put before the Tribunal, thus assisting in shertening
the heariny and restricting the area of argument. The Companics!
brief was not recaived until the twenty-first day after the roference
was made, as alresdy stated. Siven the comulexity of the matter, as
Mr. Rattray adaits, and the late receipt of the Tribunal's letter of
April 13. it cannot ke said that the submission of the hrief was
delayed unreasonably. Up to then no brief was recaived from the Union,
Hr. Tomlinson states in his affidavit that it was imoracticable, nay,
impossible, for the Tribunal to make its award within twenty-one days.
This statement cannct justifiabily be challonged. Wa mova, therefore,
into the area whare the award is to be made as soon as may he
procticable.

In view of the contents of the Union's lettar of fipril
22 to the Permanent Secretary. a copy of which the Tribunal received

on fpril 27, it was not unrzasonable, in my view, for the Trilunal

?

to await the Hinistry's decision on the issues raised, particularly

!
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tha challenge to the Minister’s authority to make the reference and
the demand made for the withdrowal of the reference, The reply to
the 'nion's letter is dated Moy 11, tn Hay 17 ths sarties are

written to by the secrziary of the Tribumal siving tho names of the

-~

members of the Tribuno! whe would hear the dispute ansd requesting
the Union's Lrief by Hay 24, The brief is not received by that
time. tnstcad, on May 26 the Tribunal is sent an exchange of
correspondence Letween the Union and the Companies which showsd that
the lUnicn was ignoring the Tribunal and wanted nenotiations rosumed
directly with the Companies. It cannot be sald that it was

f

unreascnable for the Tribwunal to await the Union's briaf until May

20 before taking further action.
In the meantime (since the letter of May 12), Mr. Tomlinsen's
affidavit states, the chairman of the Trilunal who was to preside at
the hearing of the dispute had to go on leave, it, tharefore, bocame
necassary for the division praviously named to be reconstituted,
A1 other divisians, he said, had nrevious long tarm commitments
which prevented thoir hearing the dispute. The affidavit does not
say precisely when the division was reconstituted, but on June 15

n~ the namzs of the members

a latter was written to the parties 7jiv
of the reconstituted division and giving Junc 17 as the date for the
first sitting of the division. The Union, in the meantime, is in

further correspondence sceking to have the Companies agres to resums
direct nergntiations, Then there is the sitting on June 17 and what

nccurred there, the postponement to June 23, which was aborted. A

new <ate is fixad on July & for July & and a further reguest is mace

¥

for the Union's brief, The sitting takes nlace on July 7 but no one
attends from the Union. Ui to July 12 no brief had been received from
the Union.

tt will be secn that, contrary tn tho charges of somncicnee,
indifference and neglect, the only neriod when it can be said with any
semblance of justification that there was inaction on the part of the

Tribunal is that between Niay 29 and June 1. Vhen ona considers the

/[ ooe..
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implications for th: Tribunal of th: sbsence of a rasponse to its
repeated roaquest o the Uninn to sutmit its brief and the tnion's
apparcnt contemptuscus attitude towards it. this poriod of avparent
inaction may not be unreasonable aftar all,

It was sai:! by Mr. Hattray that if the Tritunal's
procedure reauired the submission of briefs, they musi be preomatly
requested and if they cause unduc delay the process must g0 on without.
At the sitting of the Tribunal on July . fr. Leo-Rhvnie urged the

Tribunal to fix a date and nrocecd with the ‘hearing in the absence of

s

tha Union in view of the !nion's conduct towards the Tribunal. The
chaoirman renlicd

Y11, at this stane, the Tribunal will take all
you have said, particularly the zseint about fixino
dates to begin the hearing »f the matter. | think
you will appreciate that we will require some legal
guicance in this regard. but wo dn undertake to have
the matter studied and the necessary consultations
enteraed into.

This obvious reluctance to proceed with the hearing in the absence of
one of the parties is consistent with what v, Tomlinson says it his
affidavit. He said, in parazrach 2

P oAt is not the practice of the Tritunal to make
awards without yiving each side 2 raasonakle
opportunity to present its casc as the Tribunal feels
stronaly that this wouldd be contrary to the orinciples
of natural justice. The Tritunal's fundamental
chlivation under the Law is to settle industrial
disputes =~ not to create them. It has never appeared
to the Tribunal during the whole pericd of its operation
that it could settle industrial disputes as 2 practical
matter if it proceeded with hearings without giving
both sides the fullest opportunity to olitain whateve
instructions they needed and to present their cases
with as much latitude as was reasonably required
consistent with the law. i

It has not been suicesterd that this is an unrcasonallec attitude for the

Tribunal to take in the discharie of its duties. | think it is o

5

parfectly rezsonable attitude if the Tribunal is to serve the rurpose
for which it was established.

In his affidavit, "r. Tomlinson statad that as a member of

n

the tribunal he has naver known any dissute te be completed within twenty-

one days of the refzrence: that it is auite impossibile to deal adcquately

/o
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with any dispute within as short 2 pericd as that. He alse referrad

te the extensive volume of work which the Tribunal has and to the

fact thot at =11 material times it was crossly understaffed and had

inadequate accommodation. Mr. snattray sa2id that these matters have

no evidential value in establishing impracticability in this case.

It was submitted that, granted the difficulties under which the
Tribunal onerstes, the affidavit is silent as to the administrative
stens taken Ly the Tribunal to enhance its efficiency and expedits

its processes to meet the tims frame imposed. With respect, | do not
arree with this last submission. in my view, to the extent that

the stated inadequacies couse delays which contribute to making it
impracticahble for awards to ko made in the srescribed time, the
inadenuacias must bLe viewed as they wera at the material time. I do
not find it necessary to place any reliance on these aspects of Mr.
Tomlinson's affidavit in dealing with the issues raised but | certainly
do not agree with the submission that this evidence s of no value in
establishing impracticability in a particular case.

Hr. Hattray submitted that the onus is on the Tribunal to
estakblish that it was impracticadle te make the award within twenty-one
days and that it was made as soon as practicable thereafter. | do not
arree. The applicant has brourht thess procesdings on the ground that
tha Tribunal now has no jurisdiction te make the award. it is my

opinion, and { hold, that the burden is upon the applicant to satisfy us

that the Tribunal has no jurisdiction. In B. v. Fulham, Mammersmith &

£y

iensington Fent Tribunal, Ex porte Zerek, (1a51) 2 €K.8. 1, 11, #r.

Justice Devlin said: 't has never bean the prictice to put the party

who asserts that the inferior Court has jurisdiction to proof of the

facts upon which he relies'’.  That case was concerned with the decision

ot a rent tribunal,

The aprlicant contends that the Tribunal no lonyer has

jurisdiction to hear the dispute and make an award. When did its

it bacame

jurisdiction cease or lapse? Mr. Patterson submitted that
functus officic when it failed to hand down its oward within twenty-

one davs., But this cannct bhe so because it has been clearly

556
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demonstrated that it was impracticable to make the award during that
periond. So when after the Tirst twenty-one days did it cease to have

jurisdiction?  Surely, if it is said that the jurisdiction censed it

should be possible te point to some sp

Mr. Rattray submitted that, paying rejard to all tha relevant facts.
no reasonable Tribunal could hold that it had jurisdiction to make an
awara in this matter since such an award could never bz seid to be

as soon as practicable after the expiry of twenty-one <days from the
reference. But when did it cease being impracticable te make it?

It does not sgem to me that it can be sufficiant merely to say that
when these proceedings were instituted ninety-one days had elapsed
since the reference and no award had becn made, thereforc the Tribunal
is functus eofficic.

tn my opinion, in order to succeed the apelicant must show
that it was opracticeble at some time during the neriod since the referencs
was made for the Tribunal to make the award and 1t was not nadle. This,
in my judgment, it has failed to Jdo. “uite the contrary, the evidence
before us, in my cpinion, establishes at least nrima facie that it
remained impracticable, in a2ll the circumstences, from the expiration
of the first twenty-cne days up to the taking of these proceedings for
the Tribunal tn make its 2ward on the dispute referred to it. A decision
te this effect by the Tribunal cannot, in the circumstances, be said
tc be so absurd that no sensible person could ever dream that the
Tribunal could reach that decisinon.

As regards the ground that the Tribunal refused on July 19
to hear the submissions of counsel for the applicant that the Tribunal
had no jurisdiction, it is clear that prohibition is nat the appropriate
remedy to seek for that complaint. I do not think. however, that an
application for any cther ramedy on this ground alone would be Tikely
to succeed. Thoush in cartain circunstances an inferior court or
tribunal can properly decide whether or not it has jurisdiction to
entertain proceedings before it, in my opinion, the Industrial Disputes

Tribunal has no power to decide that the Ministar had ne authority te

VA
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make a refercnce to it, The exercisz of the linister's authoricy
in this respect can only be challenced in this Jourt, as was done in
these procaedings.

For the reasons | have endeavoure! to give, | would hold
that the application faiis and would, accordingly, dismiss it with

costs.
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33.
MARSH,J.:

This 1s an application by the National Workers
Union for an Order of Prohibition, seeking to prohibit
the Industrial Disputes Tribunal from furthér acting on
the reference to it made on the 10th April, 1981, by the
Honourable Minister of Labour in respect of an alleged
dispute between the applicant Union and:

Alcan Jamaica Company,

Alumina Partners of Jamaica,

Alcoa Minerals of Jamaica Incorporated,

Kaiser Bauxite Company, and

Reynolds Jamaica Minies Limited.

The matter comes before the Court as a result of
certain incidents which occurred during an attempt by the
Union and the abovenamed Companies (all of which consti-
tute the companies engaged in the Bauxite and Alumina
Industry in Jamaica) to arrive at a new collective labour
agreement for the Bauxite and Alumina Industry.

Briefly, the facts are that between November, 1980
and March, 1981 a number of meetings were held between the
parties - initially, at the private 1eve1‘and eventually
under the Chairmanship of the Direcfor of Industrial
Relations at the Ministry of Labour. Un the 10th April,
1981, the Minister, acting under the powers conferred on
him by section 11(A)(1) of the Labour Relations and
Industrial Disputes Act, decided that a dispute existed
between the Union and the Companies and made an order
referring the matter to the Industrial Disputes Tribunal
for settlement. The Union hasgs challenged the Minister's
right to do so, claiming that as there was no dispute
existing between itself and the Companies at the relevant

time, the Minister had no authority to make the reference

and the cecena/
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and the Tribunal, accordingly, had no jurisdiction to
hear the matter. The Union is now seeking an Order of
Prohibition from this Court prohibiting the Tribunsl
from acting on the reference.

Whether or not the Union is entitled to succeed 1in
its application will depend, in the first place, on
whether this Court has any pewer to review an exercise of
the discretion conferred upon the Minister by section 11(A);
and, in the second place, assuming such a power to exist,
on whether there was in existence on the date of the
reference an "industrial dispute'" between the Union and the
five Bauxite Companies. If both these questions are
answered in the affirmative then a further issue to be
determined is that raised by the #Applicant in an amended
statement, namely, whether by virtue of section 12 of the
Act the Minister's reference had expired and the Tribunal
was, therefore, no longer competent to hear and determine
the issue or to meke an award thereon.

I turn now to a consideration of the question of the
Court's powers of review in a case such as the instant.

Counsel for the Companies submitted that where, as
is the case here, the power impugned does not directly
affect the substantative rights of any individual, the Courts
have always been reluctant to interfere; even where the
repository of the power takes into account irrelevant
matters, or excludes relevant matters, or misdirects him-
self on any particular point. It was submitted that in
such cases, the Courts will only intervene where the repo-
sitory of the power acted in bad faith or capriciously. He
relied on the Secretary of State for Employment v. &A.5.L.E.F.
(1972) 2 ALL ER 949 and R. v. Barnett & Campden Rent

Tribunal (1972) 1 ALL ER 1185.

I do coaoo/
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I do not, with respect, accept this preposition,
nor do I accept that the cases relied on go that far. The
Minister's authority under section 11(4) is to refer
"industrial disputes" - nothing else. If, therefore, the
Minister purporting to act pursuant to the section refers te
the Tribunal something other than an "industrial dispute",
that would be an unlawful exercise of the power. In such
circumstances it seems to me to be beyond argument that this
Court would be entitled to review the actions of the Minister
im, any such purported exercise of his discretion, so as to
satisfy itself that the power was exercised onh a proper founda-
tion of fact; since it is settled law that the repository of
such a power cannot give himself authority te act by inventing
a state of facts which does not exist. See for example the
observations eof Lord Wilberforce in Secretary of State for
Education v, Tameside Metropolitan 3Borough Council (1976)

3 W.L.R. 641, 665, where he states the following:

"The section (i.e. section 68 of the
Education Act 1944) is framed in a
"subjective" form -~ if the Secretary

of State "is satisfied"™. 'This form

of the section is quite well known and

at first sight might seem to exclude
judicial review. Sections in this form
may, no doubt, exclude judicial review
on what is, or has become a matter of
pure judgment. But I do not think that
they go further than thast. If a

judgment reguires, before it can be made,
the existence of some facts, then,
although the evaluation of those facts

is for the Secretary of 3tate alone, the
Court must enquire whether those facts
exist, and have been taken into account,
whether the judgment has been made upon

a proper self-direction as to those facts,
whether the judgment has not been made
upon other facts which ought not to have
been taken into account. If these require-
ments are not met then the exercise of
judgment, however bona fide it may be,
becomes capeable of challenge.”

Section 11(&4) of the Labour Relations and Industrial

Disputes Act (like Section 68 of the Education Act 1944

supral), cecoo/
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supra) is framed in a "subjective" form, namely: if the
Minister "is satisfied"; this Court is, therefore,
vis-a~vis the Minister, in the same position as was the
Court in the Tameside case and, in my judgment, it is
entitled to satisfy itself that the discretion of the
Minister was exercised on a proper foundation of fact.

It is therefore my opinion, and I so hold, that
this Court is entitled to review the actions of the
Minister in making this reference and determine for it-
self whether it was based on a proper foundation of fact.
Sub ject, of course, to Mr, Langrin's point that it is the
Minister's discretion and not the Court's that is in
issue.

I turn now to the second point for consideration.
Was there in existence on the 10th of April, 1981 an
"industrial dispute" between the Applicant and the Five
Bauxite Companies; and if so, was it one dispute involving
all five companies or was it five separate dispute
involving each of the companies?

Part of the answer to these questions lies in the
definition of the term "Industrial Dispute". in section 2
of the Act, which reads:

"Industrial Dispute" means a dispute between

one or more employers or organizations repre-

senting employers and one or more workers or

organizations representing workers, where such
dispute relates wholly or partly to:
(a) terms and conditions of employment

or the physical conditions in which any weorkers

are required to work. . oM
The Section goes on at sub-paragraphs (b), (c¢) and (d) to
list other criteria but I do not propose to 1list them here
since, in my judgment, they are not directly relevant to
the matter now before us.

Although the term’”"industrial dispute" is defined,

it is ceo/
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it is to be noted that the word "dispute"” is not,
Accordingly, Counsel for the Union contended that a dis-
pute is that point in the process of collecﬁive bargaining
when the perties have reached a stage of deadlock,ocr,
where there arises between them some irreconcilable
difference. ©Cn this appreach it was contended that, in the
instant case no dispute had arisen up to the 10th of April
when the Minister's reference was made. The parties at
that time, Counsel insisted, were still engaged in the
bargaining preocess; and while that bargaining might have
been, admittedly, vigoreous and perheps, at times, even
aggressive they were not at any stage in a state of dead-
lock. There was no dispute.

On behalf of the Companies it was urged that a
wider interpretation should be given to the word "dispute®.
Here the suggestion was that a dispute arcose whenever a
claim ‘or proposal was made and the same was either
rejected or, there was a failure te agree. Negotiation,
conciliation, and ultimately, reference to the Tribunal,
so the argument ran, were all part of the process of
"settling the dispute", which, in terms of logic, must
clearly have been antecedent to any such negotiations, or
conciliation. The main premiﬁé of this contention was
that each operation represented a stage in the escallation
of the dispute as settlement became mere and more unlikely;
and so, contrary to the submission of Counsel for the
Union, the "dispute' in this case must have arisen at the
very first meeting of the parties, in November 41980.
Reliance was placed for this proposition on Section 6 of
the Act, which deals with the procedure to be applied in

settlement of industrial disputes, where a Collective

Labour enooo/



Labour Agreement neglects to make provision therefor, as
well as R. v. Industrial Dispute Tribunal Ex parte Jamaica
Shipping Association, Suit M/15/1979; also Chapter 5 of a
work entitled "The System of Industrial Relations.in
Britian" by Mr. Alan Flanders.

Which of these approaches is to be preferred?

Althodgh this issue of the eristence of a "dispute"
was guite ardently debated at the Bar, and although it is
indeed the main focus of public interest in this case it
is, in my opinion, essentially a question of fact, the |
resolution of which is as much aided by the application of
logic and common sense, as by anything else.

In the Shorter Uxford English Dictienary one meaning
given to the word 'dispute' is the following:

"to contend with oppesing arguments or

assertions; to discuss, argue, hold

disputation; often to debate with heat;

to altercate."

What are the facts?

In 1978 the Union and each of the Companies had
signed collective labour agreements which were due to
expire on the 31st of January, 1981. The Union apparently
decided to re-negotiate the 1978 agreement and on the 24th
of vctober, 1980, it submitted a twenty-eight point claim
for the consideration of the Companies. 3etween the 10th
of November, 1980 and the 2Sth of January, 1981, the
parties met privetely at some six or seven meetings hbut
failed to come to any agreement on the claims. At the
meeting on the 29th of Januery a dispute arose between
them on the cuestion of retroactivity and there was a

threat of strike action taking place. This was averted

wheéNeseooo/
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when the parties agreed to refer the matter to the Ministry
of Labour where a meeting was held on that same day under
the Chairmanship of Mr. Irons, the Director of Industrial
Relations in the Ministry. The dispute as to retroactivity
was settled on the 3rd of February, 1981 -~ but the Union's
claim was not, and the parties decided to continue‘their
efforts to resolve that issue by continuing to meet at the
Ministry under the Chairmanship of Mr. Irons, instead of
privately as had previously been the case. There were some
twelve such meetings at the Ministry. During that time
the parties were also meeting at the local level with a
view to settling those aspects of the Union's claim which
related to the local level. From the outset, i.e. from
the first meeting in November, 1980, both parties were
agreed that the object of the exercise was to negotiate a
"total package" -~ that is to say a concluded agreement for
each company which covered all claims at themindustry—wide
level, local level or in respect of company amendments.

It appears that at the meeting at the Ministry of
Labour on the 22nd of January, 1981, the Companies tabled
an omnibus proposal, the object of which was to achieve
agreement on all three aspects of the claim (see "Exhibit
K.S.P. II" exhibited to the Affidavit of Dr. Keith Panton
dated 27th July, 1981). That document, however, failed to
resolve the issue and from that date until the meeting of
the 30th of March, 1981, the difference between the parties
hardly shifted. As will be seen by reference to "K.S.P. II"
the Companies' proposal was based on figures which omitted
to spell out the matter item by itém, but which left it to
the Union to apportion the sums stated, in its discretion,

over the spread of items. The Union, however, apparently

Wished 0000/
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wished the matter to be dealt with in greater detail.

This led to a great deal of argument and, in my
respectful opinion, time wasting; and the minutes of
some of these meetings, which are exhibited to Mr. Irons'
Affidavit, bear eloquent testimony to the climate of
industrial relations in Jamaica. The impression that I
have gained from an examination of these minutes is that
there was an absolute lack of trust between the parties.
There was one meeting in which the entire time was spent
debating what was meant by the reference in "K.S.P. II"
to the terms "impact cests" and "non-impact costs"; and
which ended, needless to say, without any resolution of
the matter. There was a great deal of talking on both
sides but very little bargaining, with each side accusing
the other of playing games, or of not being realistic.

It was as if by agreement they were executing some kind
of ritual dance, the intricate movements of which were
known only to the participants. After twelve meetings
the parties never got beyond the first item dealing with
wages and fringe benefits.

Eventually, on the 25th of March, 1981 the Companies
tabled a revised preposal (K.S.P. III in Mr. Panton's
Affidavit) in which the figure for total wage increases
was revised from $24 per week to $26.40 per week, with the
same discretion being left for the Union to apportion the
wage related "impact"” and "non-impact'" costs as in K.S5.P.
IXI. The Union then, apparently, agreed to table its own
revised proposals at the next meeting which was scheduled
for the 30th of March, 1981 but failed to do so.

The Affidavit of Mr. Irons, Director of Industrial
Relations in the Ministry speaks to the matter. At para-

graphs 11 to 17 he states the following:

”(11) These oooeo/
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(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)
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These further meetings were
conducted under my Chairmanship

and in that capacity I was acting
as a conciliator. Some of the
meetings were joint meetings but
the atmosphere was such that uni-
lateral meetings also had to be
conducted in separate rooms at the
Ministry, i.e. I would talk to one
side endeavouring to reach a
settlement on pointa in dispute and
would then talk to the other side
and endeavour to persuade them to
accept the settlement or reach some
form of acceptable compromise,

That on the 25th of March, 1981, the
companies tabled révised proposals.
It was agreed that another meeting
was to be held on the 30th of March,
1981, when the Union was expected to
table revised proposals.

That on the 30th March representatives
of the Companies and the Union attended
at the Ministry. That in the course of
the afternoon the Union presented to me
what it described as revised proposal
but contrary to the understanding

- arrived at on the 25th March, 1981,

stipulated that the revised proposal
should not be disclosed to the Companies,
That I informed the Companies' repre-
sentative of this and they were vocally
displeased that the Union was refusing

to table its proposals or to have . them
disclosed to the Companies.

That another meeting was scheduled for
the 2nd April. That meeting had to be
cancelled as I was informed by telephone
by the Union that Mr. Goodleigh, the
Officer in charge of the Union's team
was ill,

That another meeting was scheduled for
the 8th April, but it fell through as
the Union advised me by telephone on
the 7th April, that it could not attend
that meeting, and it was unable to
suggest any other date until certain
internal problems within the Union were
settled.

Twelve conciliatory meetings were held
at the Ministry between February 9,
1981 and 30th March, 1981 - all under
my chairmanship and from my neutral and

confidentialecoo/
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confidential position as conciliator
it became increasingly clear to me
that there was no possibility then or
within the reasonably foresceeable
future of the parties resolving the
dispute themselves or by means of the
conciliatory services of the Ministry.

(17) Up to that time no real progress towards
a settlement had been made as the
difference between the proposals of the
parties appeared irreconcilable.™
The "revised proposals" referred to in paragraph
12 above is the document known as KSPIII° That document
at paragraph 3, contains the following:
"Acceptance of offer is in settlement of all
claims at local and industry-wide level,
Claims not referred to herein or in the
Companies' local level offer are considered
dropped." '
At paragraph 4 of the same document, the.following is
stated:

"All Companies preposed amendments, whether
at local or industry-wide level, are accepted.™

This document speaks for itself. Clearly it was intended
by the Companies as anaccross-~the-board proposal for
settling all the collective agreements over which the
parties had been negotiaging since the 10th of November,
1980. The same, of course, is also true of KSPII, to
which I have already referred, which was tabled by the
Companies of the meeting of the 22nd January, 1981.

I emphasize this because it was part of the Union's
contention that even if there had been a dispute im ;

existence on the 10th of April, which they were of course

denying, it could only have related to the industry-wide

claims and, consequently, any enlargement of the dispute

to include local level and company amendments, would

have been contrary to the facts, and so, ultra vires the

Minister.

Against c.es/
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Against that background of facts, some of which
are set out in more deteil in the evyhibits, the Companies
contend that there was in evistence, 2t the relevant
date, an incdustrial dJdispute upen which the lNinister
could preoperly heave groundecd his refeience.

Jas there a2 dispute?

It seems to me that any encuiry into this cuestion
must include refercnce to the sffidavit of Mr. Irons who
had been Chzirmen of all the meetings at the Ministry and
who had, in the ciurse of thuse meetings, held unilaterel
discussions with beth sides. He, more than anyone else
invelved, wes best situated to determine whether there
was any real possibility of the parties resching agree-
ment within @ reasonable time. At paregraphs 16 and 17
of his Afficdeavit, te which I have already referred, he
states the following:

"..o from my neutrel ond confidential pasition

as conciliatzsr it beceme increasingly clear teo

me that there was no possibility then, or

within the reascnebly foreseeable future, of

the perties resolving the dispute themselves

or by means <f the conciliatory services of the

Ministrv.

"... up to thet time (that is the Wth of March,

1981), no real progress towards & settlement

had been made as the differences bdetween the

proposals of the parties apreared irreconcilable.”

Having evemined the minutes of the relevent
meetings, on which theat conclusion of Mr. Irens was Desed,
I have no hesitetion in agreceing thet there was ample
evidence upon which he could heve arrived at the con-
clusion stated in his Affidavit., In simple terms the
fact is, that after seventeen (17) meetings between the

10th of November, 1980 and the 20th of March, 1981 the

parties were no neerer agreement than they were at the

outsptﬂ DBOOBO/
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outset., The Minister had been kept informed of the
situation from time to time by Mr. Irons and I am
entitled to assume that his decision to make a reference
on the 10th of April must, to a large extent, have been
based on the advice given to him by that officer as to
the likelihood of the matter being resolved., It is
common ground also that an expeditious settlement of the
matter was necessary and desirable. I remind myself
therefore, that all I am required to do here is to ascer-
tain whether there was a sufficient foundation of fact
upon which the Minister could reasonably have acted in
making the reference.

Having examined the matter I have come to the
conclusion, and I so find, that there was a sufficient
foundation of fact upon which the Minister could have
satisfied himself that a dispute existed between the
Union and the Companies. That dispute was whether or not
the offer by the Companies to settle all the claims on
the basis proposed should be accepted by the Union. The
Union wanted the matter dealt with in greater detail,
that is. item by item, whereas the Companies did not think
that necessary; and the parties became bogged-down in argu-
ments about it. In other words, there was an irreconci-
lable difference. Whether this occurred on the 22nd

January, 1981, when KSPII

March, 1981 when KSPIII was, need not detain us here since

was tabled, or on the 25th of

either way the result would be the same. Similar consi-
derations apply to the interpretations of the term "dispute',
which were respectively canvassed by Mr. Rattray and

Mr. Leo~Rhynie, and which I need not pursue in the 1light
of the finding which I have just made. The parties had

reached a deadlock or an irreconcilable difference, and

that, in ooooa/
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that, in my book, is a dispute in any language.
The question remains - was it one dispute or was !
it five? It seems to me that the answer to this lies in ‘
the documents K.S.F. II and K.S.P. III. Examination of
these shows that it was a single dispute but that it
affected all five companies. The documents also show
that the dispute related to all three elements in the

claim, namely industry-wide and local level claims, &s

well as company amendments (note, in particular, para-
graphs 3 and 4 of K.S.P. III to which I have already
adverted).

I pause here to make one observation on the sub- i
missions made by the parties as to whether or not they

' or merely, as it was

were at the Ministry to "conciliate'
put - "under the auspices of the Ministry". It seems to
me, reading the minutes, that there was, or there might
have been a genuine misunderstanding about why the parties
were there, but that this was cleared up by the Chairman
in response to a direct cuestion by Mr. Goodleigh. I
mention it only out of respect for the arguments submitted
by counsel; since, in my judgment, K.S.P. II and K.S.P. IIT
when properly construed, clearly indicate that the company
wished an r~across-~the-board settlement; even, thereforc,
if there were meetings going on simultaneously at the
local level, the object of the exercise was clearly to try
to settle the matter in one fell swoop, so to speak.

The further question arises -~ did the five companies,
in the light of the finding that there was a single
dispute, constitute one "undertaking" in terms of section
11(A)? or was each a separate undertaking? Here the
wording of section 11(A) is relevant. Subsection (1)
reads:

"(1) Notwithstanding.../

nggj> '



ro
AN

/erployers

REN

46,

"(1) Notwithstanding the provisions
of sections 9, 10 and 11 where the
Minister is satisfied that an industrial
dispute exists in any undertaking and
should be settled expeditiously, he may,
on his own initiative:

(a) refer the dispute to
the Tribunal for settle-
ment if he is satisfied
that attempts were made
without success to settle
the dispute by such other
means as were available
to the parties."
In support of the Union Mr. Rattray contended that (in
terms of the section) the Minister was restricted to
referring one dispute in one undertaking only. Therefore,
since each company was a separate undertaking, he was in
fact required to make five separate references; and the
fact, therefore, that he had not done that but instead
had sought to roll them all up as one dispute, invalidated
the reference.
I do not agree. The definition of "industrial
dispute" in the Act reads in part as follows:
" 'Tndustrial dispute' means a dispute
between one or more employers ... and

organisation representing workers.™
(my emphasis)

That reference to '"one or more'"/is, in my view, a suffi-
cient indication that the Act comprehends that a single
dispute may exist, even where there is more than one
employer, and even though each employer may constitute a
separate "undertaking". While, therefore, it may be true,
as was contended, that once settlement had been achieved
the Union would be required to execute five separate
agreements with each undertaking that factwwuld not, in
my opinion, vitiate a reference to the Tribunal of a
single dispute involving five separate "undertakings"

since the statutory language clearly envisages such an

approach. .../
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approach., This is even more so where, as in the instant
case, the dispute is on a matter common to all five
undertakings and the settled objective was unanimity.
The proper approach in such a case, it seems to me, is
to apply the provisions of section 4 of the Interpretation
Act and read the word "undertaking" in section 11(A&)(1)
in the plural, since clearly the context would so require
in a case where there is a single dispute involving five
undertakings. Such an approach does no violence to the
language and 1t upholds the principle envisaged by the
Labour Relations and Industrial Disputes Act that there
can be a single dispute involving several employers and
one Union. In my judgment, therefore, this point fails.

It was further contended on behalf of the Union
that there was, in any event, a lack of precision in the
actual wording of the reference, in that it failed to
make clear whether or not all three elements of the
claim were included or only that relating to industry-
wide claims. This point was not, however, pressed and
it appeared during the arguments that both sides were
agreed that the wording of the reference was wide enough
to include all three elements. In any event, it is
clear from the decision in 3eetham's case that failure
to be precise or specific in the wording of the reference
is not fatal thereto.

On this aspect of the case, therefore, I find that:

(1) there was an industrial dispute in

existence between the ﬁnion and the
Companies on the 10th of April, 1981;
(2) it was onec dispute and not five separate

disputes;

(3) the e.onoo/




o

™~

e

75t

(3) the dispute related to all three elements
in the claim served by the Union, and
existed in the failure of the parties
to agree on proposals tabled by the
Companies which ‘were designed to settle
all outstanding matters between them.

It was, in terms of the Statute, a
dispute over the terms and conditions

of employment of those workers employed
by the companies who were members of the
Applicant Union;

(4) the wording of the Minister's reference
adegquately reflected the nature of the
dispute. |

Basing myself, therefore, on these findings, I hold that
the reference by the Minister made on the 10th of April,
1981, to the Tribunal was a valid exercise of the dis-
cretion conferred upon him by section 11(A) of the Act;
and, conseguently, that on the 10th of April, 1981, the
Tribunal had jurisdiction to settle the dispute.

That jurisdiction would,in terms of Section 12 of

the Act, have expired on the 1st of May, 1981, unless:

(a) an extension of the twenty-one day
period was obtained pursuant to
subsection (2); or

(b) it was "impracticable" for the
Tribunal to make the award on that
day - in which event the jurisdiction
could continue until it ceased to be
impractitable. ‘

This brings me to the final ground relied on by

the Applicant, namely that the Tribunal having failed to

comply with section 12(1) of the Act, as to the time
. Wit'hinqg’ooj/
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within which its award should be made, is now functus
officio and therefore, no longer competent to hear the
issue or to make any award thereon. Section 12, so far
as is relevént, reads as follows:

"12(1) Subject to the provisions of sub-

section (2) the Tribunal shall, in respect

of any industrial dispute referred to it,

make its award within twenty-one days after

that dispute was so referred, or if it is

impracticable to make the award within that

period it shall do so as soon as may be
practicable, and shall cause a copy of the

award to be given forthwith to each of the

parties and to the Minister,

(2) The period of twenty-one days spe=
cified in subsection (1) may be extended by
the Tribunal -

(a) for a further period not
exceeding twenty-one days
at the request of any of
the parties;
(b) for such further period beyond
that specified in paragraph (a)
as the Tribunal may, with the
agreement of the parties,
determine."

The first thing to be decided about the section is
whether or not the provi sions of subsection (1) supra are
mandatory or merely directory. A number of authorities
was cited in relation to this but I do not think it
necessary to review them here., Suffice it to say that
the wording of the subsection speaks for itself. The
Tribunal shall make its award within a specified
period, or so soon thereafter as may be practicable.

A provision so worded clearly confers upon the Tribunal

a discretion to make its award either within the specified
period, or when this proves to be impracticable, so soon
thereafter as may be practicable. For this reason the
provision should, in my judgment, be construed as being
merely directory; therefore, failure to make the award

within the specified period will not automatically vitiate

the same. Subsection (1) is made subject to subsection (2),

I ooooooo/
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I construe that to mean that where necessary the period
of twenty-one days in subsection (1) may be extended in
the manner provided by subsection (2). If so extended,
the combined periods then become the specified period;
and the award in such a case must be made within that
specified period, Qr; if it is impracticable to do so,
it may be made so soon thereafter as may be practicable.

If I am correct in this approach then it follows
that the right to make a so called late award is not at
large and will depend entirely on the question of
impracticability.

Two further questions arise. Since the provision
confers a discretion upon the Tribunal, is it open to
this Court to review it and,if so, to what extent? The
second question is, assuming a power to review - what
do the words "impracticable'" or "as soon as may be prac-
ticable" mean?

As to the first, do we have a power of review?

The most recent authority available to me on the
powers of judicial review in a case such as this is the
Grunwick case (élready cited by the learned Chief Justice)
(1978) A.C. 655, where Lord Diplock, in a passage
commencing at page 691 made reference to the matter in
the following terms:

"My Lords, I agree with the Court of Appeal

that the requirement in section 14(1) that

Acas 'shall ascertain the opinion of workers

to whom the issue relates' is mandatory,

whatever the precise content of the require-

ment may be. Like the Court of Appeal, I am
unable to accept the qualification, which

Lord Widgery, C.J. held to be implicit in the

subsection, that the obligation to ascertain

the opinions of workers extended only 'so

far as reasonably practicable' in the circum-

stances of the particular case. In the

context of the exercise of statutory functions

by a public authority the use by judges of

such expressions as 'reasonable' or 'reasonably’

practicable' raises the question as to by.

Wwhomososoe/
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whom the decision falls to be made, as to

what is or is not reasonable or reasonably
practicable. Prima facie the decision,

which is one of fact, is one which the

public authority by whom the statutory
functions are exercised would have jurisdiction
to decide for itself, and a Court of

Justice would have no jurisdiction to

interfere with its decision except upon the
third ground stated by Lord Green, M.R. in
Associated Provincial Picture Houses

Limited v. Wednesbury Corporation (1948)

1 K.B. 233,229, the locus classicus incwhich he
sets out the grounds upon which the Court

can hold to be ultra vires and void a

decision of an administrative body made in
purported exercise of a discretion which a
statute has conferred on it:

e o o & o s o o o o o o « (my emphasis)
And here, Lord Diplock guotes from Lord Green in the
following terms:

"...similarly, there may be something so
absurd that no sensible person could ever
dream that it lay within the powers of the
authority to reach the decision that it
did."

Lord Diplock, in this passage, seems to be
suggesting that it is for the Tribunal to decide what is
or is not impracticable, and also that the power of
review of this Court is limited to the third ground
stated by Lord Green, M.R. supra, namely that turning
on absurdity or patent lack of reasonableness. In the
Wednesbury case Lord Green, in a later passage at page
233 of the report, summed up his view thus:

"I do not wish to repeat myself, but I
will summarise once again the principle
applicable. The Court is entitled to
investigate the .action of the local
authority with a view to seeing whether
they have taken into account matters
which they ought not to take into account
or, conversely, have refused to take

into account or neglected to take into
account matters which they ought to take
into account. Once that question is
answered in favour of the local authority
it may be still pessible to say that,
although the local authority have kept

within ceoceo/
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within the four corners of the matters
which they ought to consider, they have,
nevertheless, come to a conclusion so
unreasonable that no reasonable authority
could ever have come to it. In such a
case, again, I think the Court can inter-
fere. The power of the Court to interfere
in each case is not as an appellate authority
to over-ride a decision of the local
authority, but as a judicial authority which
is concerned, and concerned only to see
whether the local authority has contravened
the law by acting in excess of the powers
which Parliament has confided in them."
With réspect, I find this second passage from Lord Green's
judgment somewhat more clearly expressed than the earlier
passage therein which was cited by Lord Diplock in the Grunwick
case,
I understand these authorities to mean:
(1) that the relevant words confer upon the
Tribunal a discretion;
(2) that it is for the Tribunal to decide
what is or is not practicable;
(3) that, however, it must do so. not upon a
basis of whim or humour or negligence. but
upon a principle based upon a concept of
reasonableness; and
(4) that this Court is entitled to examine
(review) the exercise of that discretion
and to interfere where it is satisfied

that the Tribunal has violated this

principle. .

Whether or not the Tribunal has violated this principle
will depend upon the meaning to be given to the words ~

"impracticable" or "as soon as may be practicable" which appear
4

in the subsection. .
' L

The terms are no where defined in the 3tatute, but

in the Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, the leading meaning
|8

giveneeooooe/



given to the word "impracticable" is:

"'not practicable; that cannot be carried out
or done; practically impossible."

In the Second Edition of "Words and Phrases - Legally
Defined", published by Messrs. Butterworths Limited,

Winn-Parry, J. in re L. Sombrero Limited (1958) 3 ALL E.R.,

in a passage cited, gives the following meaning to "imprac-
ticeble":

"...the next words being 'it is impracticable
to call a meeting of a company'. The question
arises, what is the scope of the word 'imprac-
ticakile'? It is conceded that the word
impracticable is more limited than the word
'impossible' and it appears to me that the
question necessarily raised by the introduction
of the word 'impracticable' is merely this:
examine the circumstances of the particular
case and answer the guestion whether, as a
practical matter, the desired meeting of the
company can be conducted, there being no
doubt, of course, that it can be convened and
held."

Again, Lord Parker, C.J. in the same work states:

" 'Impracticable' in Regulation 97 is a

strong word. It must mean 'not possible'

or 'not feasible'. At any rate, it means

something very much more than 'not reasonably

practicablet ",
There is not a great deal of difference, in my opinion, in
these definitions. As I understand them, the dictionary
meaning of '"practically impossible" coincides substentially
with the judicisal definitions quoted. To say that a thing
is "practicelly impossible" is merely a different way of
indicating that the word "impracticable"™ is more limited
than the word "impossible". For example, a thing might well
be not impossible to perform but it may, nonetheless, be
difficult to achieve, in which case, it could be said to
be 'practically impossible'. For my part, therefore, T
would adopt the approach suggested by Winn-Parry, J.,that
is to say examine the circumstances of the particular case
a#d answer the question whc¢ther as a practical matter the
award of the Tribunal could or could not have been made
within the prescribed period.

I turn ececos/
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I turn now to the meaning of the word "practicable",
Again in the Shorter Oxford Dictionary the leading
meaning given to this word is "capable of being carried
out in action; feasible"., &And in the Butterworth pub-
lication Parker, J., as he then was, at page 98 of the
case cited (1953) 1 ALL E.R. 97 states the following:

"What does 'practicable' mean? In

Webster's Dictionary 'practicable' is

defined as 'possible to be accomplished

with known means of resources'."
Finally, I come to an Australian Ease which was, I think,
cited by Mr. Leo-Rhynie during the arguments, the case of
Potter‘v. Neave (1944) S.A.S.R. 19 where, at page 21 of
the report, Mayo, J. states:

" 'Practicable' may possibly be para-

phrased in the context of section 165

as capable of being done or accomplished

with the available resources whatever

they may be."
Having considered all of the foregoing I have formed the
view that one way of looking at the matter in the instant
case, is to say that the Tribunal may postpone the
making of an award if it finds it "practically impossible"
to do so within the prescribed period and, it may
continue to so postpone it, until the available resources
allow the action to be completed.

Basing myself, therefore, on that approach, I now
turn to an examination of the evidence in order to
satisfy myself whether the Tribunal herein failed
to make its award within the prescribed time, because it
had found it impracticable to do so. Obviously, if the
answer to this question is yes, then that would be an

end of the matter. If not, the Tribunal's jurisdiction

would have expired and it would now be functus officio

and ceccoao/
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and incompetent to hear the matter.

Apart from the minutes of the meetings of the
Tribunal and the correspondence, which are all exhibited
in Miss Powell's Affidavit, the only other evidence
before me as to the factual situation existing at the
Tribunal is the Affidavit of Mr. Tomlinson, the Acting
Chairman. That Affidavit was filed, I think, on the
second day of the hearing and grcat reliance has been
placed thercon by counsel for the Tribunal as well  as
counsel for the Companies. Both contended that it
represented a definitive answer to the question of
impracticability and is a complete justification for the
failure of the Tribunal to make its award within the
prescribed time.

At paragraph 2 of the Affidavit the following is
stated:

"In all my experience as a member of the

Tribunal I have never known any dispute

to be completed within twenty-one days

of the reference. It is not only imprac-

ticable but it is really quite impossible

to deal adequately with any dispute within

as short a period as twenty-one days,

taking into consideration the steps involved

and other conditions prevailing."

Pausing there for a moment, my first comment on this is
that the Act itself anticipates that the period of twenty-
one days might not always be sufficient, and so provided
in subsection (2),machinery for the period to be extended
where this bccame necessary. The mere fact, therefore,
that disputes are rarely ever settled within twenty-one
days is not very much to the point, although it may be a
good reason te provide by legislative amendment for a
longer initial period.

As regards the second sentence in that paragraph,

in my opinion the failure of Mr. Tomlinson to indicate

T
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what are the steps to be taken in the making of the award
precludes this Court from making any realistic assessment
as to whether the failure was due to impracticability or,
to some other reason.

The third paragraph of the Affidavit which refers
to the staffing and accommodation problems existing
generally at the Tribunal, is more to the point, although,
here again, there is a failure to be specific and the
Court is left to infer or worse yet, speculate whether
this was the explanation for the instant Tribunal's
failure to act within the period. If the fact was that
because of a shortage of staff and a lack of accommodation.
the Bribunal, having been appointed, was unable to com-
plete its functions, or, at any rate, to carry them out
adequately, that would be more to the point and would be
& most cogent argument in support of impracticability.
However, paragraphs 5 and 6 of the Affidavit suggest
that, notwithstanding this general shortage of staff and
accommodation, the Tribunal was nevertheless functioning
normally. For example, the parties were written to on
the 13th of April, which is the same day on which the
Tribunal received the Minister's reference, asking for
briefs to be submitted. Again, when it was realised
that the Companies' briefs mey be delayed, a decision
was taken (presumably by the Tribunal) to extend the
time and the attorneys for the Companies duly informed
by letter. Most of this is corroborated in the
Affidavit of Miss Powell, Secretary of the Tribunal, in
which she documents the events which occurred from her
receipt of the reference on the 13th of April, up to

and including the meeting of the 10th of July, 1981,

Ther€ceess /
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There is no suggestion in Miss Powell's Affidavit that
during this period this particular panel of the Tribunal
was hampered in its function by any shortage of
supporting staff or of accommodation or, for that matter,
<v9 anything else.

Turning once more to Mr, Tomlinson's Affidavit,
the following is stated at paragraph 7:

"When the dispute was first referred to

the Tribunal it had been determined by

the Chairman that the division to deal

with it was his own division consisting

of Mr, W.B. Lynch, Chairman, Mr. Winston

Meeks, Enployers Representative, and
Mr. Headley Alman, Workers Representative."

C;_ The expression "When the dispute was first referred ",

| used by Mr. Tomlinson, suggests that this decision on

the membership of the Tribunal must have been made either
on the 13th of April when the reference was received, or
shortly thereafter. This panel, therefore, must have been
responsible initially for dealing with the reference in
the instant case, and that, apparently, continued to be
the case at least up to the 12th of May, 1981, when the
<\/, letter at "B" of the Affidavit was written informing the
parties that this same panel was the panel selected to
deal with the reference. The fact, therefore, that there
was a problem about recruiting sufficient members for the
Tribunal does not appear to have affected this particular
reference, In so saying, I am aware that the Chairman,
Mr. Lynch, went on leavej; but,on the facts, this must
have been some time after the 12th of May when the letter
(\f at "B" was written. The inescapable inference therefore,
is that for the period ending on the 12th of May there
was in place at the Tribunal a panel charged and ready

to deal with, and in fact dealing with, the responsibility

of hearing and determining the reference in this case.
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After the 12th of May, Mr. K.K. Walters took over as
Chairman and it was he who .chaired the first preliminary
meeting on the 17th of June.

There is no indication in this portion of the
available evidence, therefore, that the panel responsible
for making the award herein, at the very least, between the
13th of April and the 12th of May was under any disability
which might have rendered it impracticable for them to
make the award or to seek te have the twenty-one day
poeriod extended. In so stating, I accept Mr. Tomlinson's
Affidavit as a2 sufficient indicetion that there were
bureaucratic and administrative problems plaguing the
Tribunal; but I do not accept the inference which we were
invited to draw that those problems so affected the
relevant panel of the Tribunal as to make it impracticable
for an award to be made. A panel had been appointed from
the available resources, also letters were being drafted,
typed and sent and decisions made, all within the available
resources. There is not the slightest suggestion that in
relation to this particular panel, and I stress that, there
was any kind of logistical problem; indeed quite the
opposite.

When the panel finally had its first preliminary
meeting on the 17th of June, the then Chairman,

Mr. Walters was aware that there was a problem about the
specified period having expired; and he sought, even at
that late stage, to resolve it by having the period
extended under or in terms of subsection (2) of
Section 12. (Please see page 115 of the Judges' Bundle.)

The point which I wish to emphasize here is, that
the fact that Mr. Walters, was seecking to have the period

extended under Section 12(2) of the Act at this meeting,

is an cocecsscas/
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is an almost inescapable indication that he, as Chariman,
did not think that the failure of the Tribunal to make its
award within twenty-one days had anythingwhatever to do
with impracticability. It really is quite simple. If
the Tribunal had failed to make its award by the 1st of
May, 1981 because it had found it impracticable to do so,
it would have been absurd for the Chairman to seek an
extension of the period under Section 12(2), since he
would have been already protected by the "slip-rule" of
impracticability. The fact, therefore, that such a move
was considered necessary, is a sufficient indication
that the Tribunal did not consider itself covered by the
slip~rule and was seeking to remedy the situation by
extending the period under subsection (2). That, at any
rate, is the clear inference as to the position existing
on the 17th of June, 1981,

In taking this approach, I bear in mind particularly
the observations of Lord Diplock in the Grunwick case, in
which he stated that the decision, whether or not it is
impracticable to make an award, is one for the Tribunal
to make. This, inm my respectful opinion, must necessarily
be so because no one is better situated to make such a
decision than the Tribunal itself, since the knowledge
is peculiarly within its own purview; accordingly, in
the instant case, it is a decision which Mr. Walters, as
Chairman of the Tribunal, was eminently suitable to make.
If, therefore, one places this along with the othcr
evidenée on the point, what emerges is a picture which
suggests that the failure to act had nothing whatever to
do with any question of it being impracticable to make an
award. I pause here to note that I come to that con-
clusion, even on the basis submitted by €ounsel for the

Companies, that the onus, the burden of proof, is on the

Applicant, .../



I3

6' o

Applicant, and not on the Tribunal.

There are, however, two other areas which require
examination. Firstly, did the failure of the Union to
supply a brief render it impracticable for the Tribunal
to make an award? Secondly, did the threat by the Union
to litigate the question of the Minister's reference, and
its actual initiation of that litigation on the 10th of
July, 1981, make it impracticable for the Tribunal to make
its award within the prescribed time?

As to the first, I would think not. Any such approach
would mean that either party appearing before the Tribunal
could delay and frustrate its proceedings by the simple
device of failing to submit a brief. I do not therefore
accept the argument which sought to base itself on the
rules of natural justice. It is my opinion that in such
cases the Tribunal must proceed to hear the matter and do
the best it can in the circumstances. It must always seek
to promote the intention of the legislature for these
matters to be expeditiously dealt with and must effect a
balance between the statutory need for expedition and
that of indulging or accommodatingrecalcitrant or devious
protagonists,

The second point is perhaps more difficult of
resolution,

In the period immediately preceding the 10th of July,
1981 matters had escalated considerably, and there
was talk of strike notices being issued and plants being
shut down, and so on., The whole matter had by then
become a widely discussed public issue which terminated
in the filing of the writ in this Court. All other things
being equal, therefore, one could reasonably have con-

cluded that this chain of events could have made it
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impracticable for the Tribunal to proceed further on

the reference. Unfortunately, things were neot all equal.
The initial twenty-one days had expired on the 1st of
May, 1981, and, if I am right in the view which I have
taken of Mr. Tomlinson's Affidavit and other evidence

in the case, the water was then already over the¢ bridge.
What happened subsequently, therefore, even if it did
qualify on the grounds of impracticability, could not
have remedied the initial default and could not havé been
relied on by the Tribunal.

The question of what may or may not be imprac-
ticable is essentially one of fact and,therefore, one
of degree. Consequently, reasonable people looking at
the same facts can guite properly come to opposite con-
clusions. It is, I think, difficult to state precisely
the peint at which a thing ceases to be practicable.
Each case is different and must necessarily turn on its
own facts. One can do no more, therefore, than look at
the totality of the matter and attempt to make some
determination thereof.

In the instant case the Labour Relations and

Industrial Disputes Act is designed, inter alia, to effect

an expeditious settlement of disputes. It is clearly
not in the public interest for industrial disputes to be
unduly protracted; consequently, Section 12 was not,

in my opinion, intended to confer upon thc Tribunal a
blank cheque which it may or may not cash as the mood
shifts, in terms of making an award; nor, is it a mere
pious exhortation tec them to make haste. Subject to

the power to cxtend time conferred by subsection 2, the

Tribunal must proceed with due despatch in the making

of its awards. The so called slip-rule of impracticability
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is merely Parliamentary recognition of human frailty and
the uncertainties of life. It would have been unjust and

inexpedient for the specified period in section 12 to have

been made mandatory. Nevertheless, the need for expeditious

settlement of disputes is ever present and impracticability

will only excuse where this is clearly seen to be the case.

Turning, therefore, to Lord Green's test, I ask
myself the question -~ has the Tribunal in alleging that
it was impracticable for it to make an award within the
prescribed time, come to a conclusion which is absurd or
at which no other reasonable authority could have arrived?
As T have already indicated it's a question of fact and
different people will decide differently. However, I have
come to the conclusion, and I so hold, that in the instant
case it is not open to the Tribunal to plead impractica-
bility,having regard to all the surrounding circumstances
including, in particular, the Chairman's decision to
attempt to resolve the problem by invoking the aid of
section 12(2). For these reasons I hold that having
failed to comply with the provisions of section 12 afore-
said the jurisdiction of the Tribunal has expired, and it
is now, therefore, functus officio and so no longer com-
petent to hcar and determine the reference or to make an
award thereon,

In so holding I bear in mind, as I must, the con-
sequences which must flow therefrom. It is my opinion,
however, that such an approach creates no particular
problem, either for the Minister or for the parties. If
the Tribunal is now functus, then the Minister may, if he
so wishes, make a new reference so that the matter may
once more be placed before it. (See for example the note

cited in Halsbury's Laws 3rd Edition at paragraph 656 as

to the neced.../
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to the need for the Court to take into account the balance
of convenience involved in holding a particular act to be
invalid.)

Nor am I troubled by the slight caveat entered by
Mr. Leo-~Rhynie that a finding té this effect might well
lead to a flood of applications to this Court. As I have
said more than once in this judgment, the question
whether it is impracticable for an award to be made is
essentially one of fact and each case must, therefore, be
viewed in that light. If, as Mr. Tomlinson suggests, the

period of twenty-one days is proving inadequate because

of the growing complexity of matters reaching the Tribunal,

then Parliament must intervene and make the necessary

amendment.

On this last point, therefore, I hold that the

applicant is entitled to succeed.
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WOLFE, J, :

|
The National Workers Union Limited, a registered trade union|

in Jamaica, represents certain categories of workers employed in the |
Bauxite and Alumina Industry.

Up to January 31, 1981, there were in existence collective f
labour agrecements between the National Workers Union Limited (hereaftef
referred to as the Applicant) and each of the five Bauxite and Aluminaf

\
Companies operating in Jamaica, For purpose of eace the Bauxite and |

Bauxite Alumina Companies shall hereafter be referred to collectively
as "the Companiess" These collective agreements had a life span
commencing on June 1, 1978, and expiring on January 31, 1981,

The collective agreements govern the employer and the employee
relationship between the workers and the Companies as also the terms
and conditions of cemployment of the workers.

In September, 1980, the Companies wrote to the Applicant
requesting it to submit claims relative to the new agreements, The
purpose for so doing was to ensurce that new collective agreements were
arrived at before the expiry date of the existing agreements, In
response to this rcquest, the Applicant, in due course submitted its
claims upon the Companies,

Negotiations Lo arrive at collective agreements have three
distinct features, namely:=-

@) Industry-wide claims, which are claims common |
to all the Companies and are negotiated on an
industry-wide basis between the Applicant and its
delegates on the one hand, and the Companies
acting together, on the other hand.

B) Local Level Claims which are claims peculiar to cach
of the five companies and are negotiated at five
different sites and by five different teams

representing the Applicant and each of the Companies.

C) Company Proposals - which are matters raised by the
companies for considering during the negotiations.

It is common ground that negotiations commenced on November
10, 1980 and continued up to January 29, 1981,

It must be noted that on January 22, 1981 the Companies made
the firstlyage offer in a doccument swhich shall hereafter be referred
to as KSP .

This offer was in the nature of a package and stipulated:
Nothing is agreed until all is agrecd.”

2 |
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On January 29, 1981 the question of retroactivity became a
sore one and the Applicant served notice on the Companics that if the
workers were not gquaranteed retroactivity they were not prepared to
work beyond January 31, 198

A meeting was arranged at the !inistry of ILabour on January 29,
1981 to resolve the situation which existed then. The purvose of this'
meeting and what occasioned its necessity is a matter of dispute but on

the evidence before us I hold that it was occasioned by the necessity to

resolve the question of retroactivity, as it was crystal clear that
meaningful negotiations could not have continued until thiz very importawﬁ
and vital issue was resolved. |

On January 31, 1931 the strike notice was withkdrawn and on 1

|

February 3, 1981 the question cof retroactivity was settled conditionally,%
one of the conditions being that further meetings to settle the many
unresolved matters should be conducted at the Iinistry of Labour.

Tollowing the mectiny of February 3, the parties resuied at
the !Hinistry of Labour on Fehruary 9, 19381. The Cemwanies' offer. as
contained in KSPII, was ‘then on the table.

The document KSPLY incurred the wrath of the Apnlicant. The
meeting ended without any agreement being reached.

Furthexr meetings were conducted on the 13th and 25th February
and on the 5thi, 6th, 2th., 12th. 17th, 23rxd, 24th, 25th. and 30th March.

On March 25, the Ccnpanies tabled a new offer ac contained in

the document XspHIE, This offer was still in the nature of a package

and again stipulated. "Nothing is agreed until all is agreed®.
The neeting of liarch 25, produced no change in the Applicant's
position except to say that the Applicant agreed that at a neeting
scheduled for March 30, it would table revised proposals.
On March 30. the Applicant presented to ilr. Anthony Irons, the

Director of Industrial Relations at the Ministry of iLabour, and under whose

Chairmanship the meetings were heing conducted, "what it described as
\

revised proposals but contrary to the understanding arxived at on the 25th
liaxch, 1931, stipulated that the revised proposals should not be disclosed

to the companies".

575
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This met witl: the Companies' disanproval.
Two further meetings were arranged for Anril 2 and 8 but were 1
aborted for. xeasons which do not deserve nention. |
During all this time the Minister of Labour was kept abreast
(l_} of the developments by the Director of Industrial Relations.

“I had continuously kept the Minister of Lasour
informed of the outcome of each meeting and the
decreasing possibility of arriving at a gettlenent
expeditiously either by the partiec themselves ox
through the conciliatory efforts of the lldnistry.®

On April 10, 1281 the Minister of Labouxr, pursuant to section
11n (1) (a) of the Labour Relations and Industrial Disputes Act, hereafter

termed '"the Act”, refexred the matter to the Industrial Disputes Tribunal,
{

hereafter referred tc as "the Tribunal?®. for settlement.
(J,” The terms c¢f reference referred to in iidss Marcia Powell's
affidavit dated July 27, 1981, marked "A" are sect out lhercunder.

"To determine and settle the dispute Detween Alcan
Jamaica Company,., Alumina Partners of Jamaica, Alcoa
Minerals of Janmaica Incorporated limited Xaiser
sauxite Company and Reynolds Jamailca iines Limited,
on the onc hand, and certain workers employed by
those companies and represcented by tie National
Wlorkexs Union on the other hand. over

(a) "he Union's claims for incrcased wages
and otler improved conditions ol employment
(J‘ made on behalf of the said workers; and

() the claims of the respective companiec ;
for certain vaxiations in the texms and'
conditions of employment of the said vorkers. ™

The Applicant and the Companies were duly infomned of the elercence

by letter dated April 13, 1981 in which +the temme eof reference wverc
set out and were each requested to furnish the Tribunal with copies oI |
their briefs outlining the cause of the disputc along with computation
of the Wage Fund.
<l‘3 The responsce to the letter dated Apnril 13, 1931 was a mized f
) one. The Companies on the one hand requested further time to subnit
their brief while the Applicant, on the othexr hand. challenged the
authority of the ilinister to make the reference based upon the existing
circumstances as the Applicant percelved then.
The Companics sulmitted thelr brief to the Tribunal on May 1,

1981 and by letter dated May 12, 198) tlie parties were duly informed

o) X
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of the composition oi the division of the Tribunal to hear the matter.
ry letter dated June 15, 19231 the parties were advised of

a change in the compogition of the division of the Tribunal to hecar

the matter as also e date for the preliminary sitting which was set

foxr June 17, 193L.

Cn June 17, 1981 a meeting of the Tribunal was convened and all
parties duly represented. The meeting achizved nought and was adjourned
te fune 23, on which date the Applicant was not represented,

A further adjourmment was talken to July 8, 1901 vhen again the Applicant
failed to turn up although it had been advined o the date by lettex
dated July 6, 1981.

An emergency sitting of the Tribunal was set for July 10, 1981,

2

wiien the Applicant vas represented by iw, Carxl Rattray, (0.C., whe informe
the Tribunal that lis appearance was limited to taliing a preliminary
onjection as to the jurisdiction of the Tyxibunal.

The Tribhunal would have none of this and so informed !Mr. Rattray.
vhereuwon he vithdrew, therecafter the Tribunal adi urned its sitting
until Monday, Jculy 13, 1281.

On July 10, 1531 the Applicant obtained an Oxder Wisi, restrain-
ing the Tribunal from Further proceeding with the matter.

The Applicant now rnoves this Court Ior an Order of Prohihition
to prohibit the Tribunal from further acting on the reference to it made

on or around the 13tl. day of April, 1931 by the lonourable linister of

Labour in respect of an alleged dispute between the Union and the Companies.

The Grounds upon which the said Relief is sought are as follows:

(@) That no dispute exists between the Union and
the Companies which could be a subject of weference
by the linister of Labour to the Indusirial Disputes
Tribunal or at all.

() hat the Industrial bisputes Tribunal refused,
on the 10th of July, 1981, to hcar tlic submissions
of the Attorney-at-Law for the Applicant. that the
Industrial bisputes Tribunal had no jurisdiction
in the matter.

{c) That tle Industrial Disputes Tribunal has no
jurisdiction to enter upon the Reference and to hear
and deternine the matters referred to it by the
Minister.

(d) That the Minister refexred to the Industrial
Disputes Triunal local level claims which were never /een
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at any time hcfore the Ministry of Lalour.

(e} That the reference to the Industrial Disputes
Tribunal v the Minister of Lalour is bad in
that the idnister has referrcd as one murported
*dilepute’, matters arising ocut of five (5)
separate. industry -wide claims iy the National
| Woxkers Union against each of the [ auxite
CJ/J and Aluaina Companies, and ive ({8) separatc
local levcl clains against cacl. of the five (5)
~auxite and Alumina Companies. the negotiations
of vhich would have resulted in separatce collective
labour agreaments between each Company and the
tlational Wo:iizexrs Union, wliich nattexrs cannot form
part oi tlie same reference without the consent of
the »arties.

3 He

&

(f)  That the refercncee of the :Hnistesr of Laboux
to the Industrial Nispuics unal haz expired
by virtuce of the provisions of section 12 of the
Labour Ielations and Inductrial nisputes Act, and
the said Txibunal is, therefore. no longer
. competent to hear the igsue and/or to malie an
(;“ awvaxd thereon.

Arising from the grounds xelied upon, the arguments as they
wvere prescnted Dy the Apnplicant and the Resnondents, four issues fall
|
to be resolved :-

1

e

The Court's nower to review the erercise of
the [dnister's discreticn puxcuant to
seccion 11 (L) (L) ‘a) of the Act;

2) wag there an industrial dispute, and if so,
what was it about and vihen did it arise and
were the provisicons of secticn 11 (A) (1) ‘@) of
(;J  the et complied with;

3) was tle reference dated Apyxil 10, 1981, goovd
in lav?

isdiction of the Tribunal, as sct |
ion 12 subsections (L) and (2) of |
irx d?

43 Bas the jur
out in sect
the nct exp

R¢ Court's Powers of Deview:

The learned Sclicitor General, reting suimitted that once

the Minister stated that he was satisfied that a digputce cuisted tho

Court could not review the exercise of tha diceretion. i
Mr. Langrin ew»pearing on Dbehalf ol the !dinister conceded that

judicial reviev of the exercise of the discretion given to the Minister |

by virxtue of section 11 {a) (1) (a) of the Act was not excluded by that

section. Ioweveyx, he contended that the Court ought not to interiere |
with that exercisc unless it could be estailished that the ilinisterx
acted - in bad faith, a contention neot put forwvaxd by the Applicant,

Joon
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or misdirected himself in law by taking into account irrelevant mattcns
or by failing to consider relevant matters. I urgaed that the Conit:

was bound to assume that the discretion was lawiully eiercised until the
contrary was establiched.

Compendiocusly put he argued that ac long as there was a basic
of fact upon whicl. the Ainister could have ecierxcised his discretion in
the way he did, then thc Court ought not to disturh the eitercisc. Iio
placed reliance upon Secrctary of State for IDducation and Science v.
i'lctropolitan orough of Tameside (1976) 3 A .1, 605,

Ilr. Leo-Fiynie on vehalf of the Companies took a less flexible
nosition. He ceontended that where :-

(1) the Statutc iformulates the diccxetion in
susjective language;

(2) does not make the exercisc of the discreticon
sul'ject tc appeal; and

(3) the cuercisce cf the discreticn dees net affect
any basic right of individuals, then. in such
circuustances the Court's power of review was
consideranly circunscribed.
Ik: further contended that the reference by tiie linister did not in any
way
wvay affect any bacic rights of individuals. WwWith thilis contention I

respectfully disagrec. To improperly denrive the workers of the xight

Eh

tc freely bargain with their emplovexs as to the terms and conditiong o
their employment and as to the wages payable to them and thereby inpesc
upon them terms and conditione of employment Ly wvay of an award by the

Tribunal is, in my view. a serious incursion upcon their basic right
’ Y . 2 o

(o]

.

The argument that tie reference per se does not alfect any basic individual

right is attractive but untenable, as ultimately it usurps the right of
free collective hargalning.

IMr., Patterson concurred with the subnission of Ir. Langyrin
and posited the following :-

(a) Where rarxliament has by statute coniierred a
nover on & iHinister it becoms excrcisable
by lim enly after all the preconditions
specificd in the Act axe estanlished; and
consecuently the Court can encuire to ascertain
if the preconditions existed at tlie time of the
exercise ol the power.

VAR
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(o) I reuirement in a statute that requires
a idnistexr to be satisfied Lefore exercising
tiscretion does not introduce a purely
gulijective test and, therefoxre; the Court
ig entitled on the evidence before it to
determine whethexr or not tlere were facts
upon whicii the Minister could he satisfied.

st
“ oy

In Secretary of ctate for lducation and Zcience v. lMetropolitan

.

sorough of Tameside supra at page 703, ILord fussell of iillowen had this
to say :-

It ig, my Joxds. no doubt a most serious matter fox |
the Judiciaxry to overset a conclucion of a Secretary
of State with overall responsii:ility in a field of
such inportance to the national welfare as education,
when it is not suggestedeither that the conclusion
was motivated by party political considerations ox
that it involved bad faith. Ctn the other hand, it
is not my understanding that the nerc expression by
the Secretary of State of his saticifaction that
particulay proposals are unxeasonable deprives the
Court of thwe ability to decide that thcere were no
sufficient grounds for that cgatisiaction, and that
consequently the Secretary of [itate nust in some
respect have misdirected himselil in applying his
mind to thie prol:lem,

It seems to mc a matter of common sense that where the exercise i
of a power is dependent upon the existence oi certain conditions then
a Court is entitled to see if those conditions have been satgified hefore i
the power is exercised.

In Ross-Clunis v. Papadopoullos (1753 I VLR 546 an appeal Iro:m

Cy»rus dealing with the imposition of a communal fine which the Commissionex

. -

was entitled teo impose if he had “satisfied lhiduself of certain circumstances|

Loxrd Morton of Henxyton said at page 560:

“Their Lordships think that if it codld he shown that
there verc no grounds upon which the Conmissionerx
could be so sotisfied, a court lighit infer either that
he did not honestly form that vieu OT ¢hat in forming

it he could not have applied Licz mind to the relevant
facks. ”

fased upon the authorities, I am of the view that this Court has
the povier to review the eucrcise of the discretion in the instant case.
It must, however, e horne in mind that the novoer of review “is not that of
an appellate body from the mode in which the discretion has been eiercised,
but to see that the jower exercised has beon the power conferred. -

Having held that the Court's power of review has not been

/eas




excluded, the question avises, was there a dicpute wvhich was propenl:
referable to the Tribunal by the ilinister.
Section 11 (2) '1) (&) under which the reference was made states:-

“Jotwithstanding the provisions of sections 9, 10
and 11, wvhexre the !Minister is catisfied that an
industrial dispute exists in any undertaking and
should be settled expeditiously. he way on his own
initiative -

refer the dispute to tie Tribunal for
scttlement if he io satisficd that
attempts were made withoult success to
settle the dispute »y guch other nmeans
ac were available to tlw parties.®

T

"Industrial dispute” is defined by the Act as :

‘A dispute betwecn one or nore cnployers of
orxganirzations reprecscnting cuplovers and
one or more workers oxr organizations renrescentins
vorlers, where such dighute relates wholly

¥ partly to :

{a) termms and conditions of employment. or the
physical conditionsg in whichi workexs arc required
to woxllL®

-

The rest of the Section, for purposes of the instant case,

[¥8
02
G
i

no import.
The Act defines “‘undertaking® thus:

“Undertaking” includes a txade or business and
any activity involving tlic employment of woriers, ™

To ascertain whether or not a dispute existed in accordance witi:
Secction L1lA(l) (a) it is necessary to advert to the facts surrounding the
negotiatione.

The evidence discloses that as far baclh as the meeting of ¥Febxruary
S, 1981 the Companies laid on the table an oifer contained in KSPII:

The Applicant. »riocr to this, had sulmitted a twentyseight (23)
point inductry-wide claim as also local level claius on the Companies.

ssptt sought to decal with all the claias of the Applicant on &

. . - . . R 4
package basis. The cactions of the Applicant to (B2

are reflccted in
the minutes. of februaxry ¢, 1981,
Extract of minutcs of meeting, Februaxy 2, 1981.
lix. Pexvy:
The records will show,!xr. Chairnan, that there iz
2 new method of doing things. Ue have no oljection,; we

want to be enlightened and if that ic the method it will
take to zesolve it, we will txy it. Jut Mr. Chairman thexe




- 72 -

there ig no way, absolutely no way we will settle

a three-year contract for any amount remotely closc
to £17.00. In fact, Mr. Chairman. you wcould not
even add tliem and get a figure: it would be closcr
if you nultinly to come up with a figure that would
be closcr to our expectations than adding them.

So we feel at this stage that the input of the
Ministry will Lring reason to hcar on our colleagues
across fron us to let us have a fair reasonable and
just setitlement. I do not bhelicve at this time we
nced to elaborate. I am sure yout would want to speak
with them outside.”

So there we have an offer by the Companies couched in xs1T and
a rejection by the Applicant.

Notwithstanding some nine () meetings at the Ministry of Labouz,
after the meeting of Tebruary 9, 193l up to iarcl: 24, 1981 the positions
of the parties in relation to xsPIT remained unchangced.

O March 2B, 1231 the Companies nroduced KSPIII, a new offerxr,
another package situation.

The Applicant in turn agreced to table revined proposals Ly larch 30
1961. This they failed to do.

It is abundantly clear from the evidencc that the Applicant was not
orepared to negotiate the claims on a package hasis as offcred by the
Companies., I am satisfied that the Applicant intended to deal with the
industry-wide claims as submitted, item by item and separate and apart from
the local level claims. The Company on the other hand was making an offex
which. if accepted. would taliec care of all the claims industry-wide, local
level, and company proposals.

Whatever meaning one attaches to the wvord dispute, whether it be
deadlock or irreconcilaile differences, as suggested by the Applicant, ox
disagreement, diffcrence of opinicn, debate, impasse, contention, as urged
hy the Respondentg; it is clear to my nind that commencing on the 9th
february, 1281 and continuing through to the 10th April, 1981 when the
reference was made, there was existing a dispute betwecn the partices. it
matters not whether the parties werc then pursuing the Collective bargaining
process or under the Conciliatory process of the !linistry.

What then was the dispute? I hold that the dispute existed “overn
whethexr the Companics' cffer involving all claiiis should be settled cxr not.

A

Should it be accepted en bloc or negotiated itom by item as suggestoed by

the Union?" ,

550




Having found that a dispute existed and the disputc having Dbeen
identified, the questions to be answered are: () nid the dispute
exist in an underteliing? and. (b)) were attempts made without success,
to settle the dispute by such other meanc as wecre available to the parties?
Concexrning the latter there can be no doubt. In this regard I
rely upon the affidavit evidence of Ix. Anthcny Zcorgce Irons and the
minutes of the various meetings cxhibited thereto.
At paragraph Siuteen (1%6) of his affidavit Iix. Irons had thig
to say

"Twelve conciliatory meetings were held at the Ministry
betveen Jebruary 9@, 1581 and 30th liaxch, 1981 - all under
ny chairmanship and from my neutral and confidential
position as canciliator it became increasingly clear to
me that therxe was no possibliliy then ox within the
reasonally foraceable future of the parties resolving

the dispute themselves or by means of the conciliatory
services ol the Ministry.®

It is conceded by the partics that lir. Irons posscsses a gxeatc
deal of skill and expexience in matters of this nature. He actually
participated in the bringing alout of the Collective jgreement of 1573.

.

Mr. Irons deposced in his affidavit that he kept the #Minister

informed of the outcone cof each meeting and the decrcasing poscilhility ol
arriving at a settlancnt cxmeditiously either w the parties themseclves
oxr through the conciliatory scxvices of the iinistry. The Minister vas ‘
entitled to rely uncn the advice of his olfice:x. Tc say that the importance§
of the "auxite and Alumina industry to the Wational 1lifc regquires the
exneditious settlement of any dispute therein is to state the ohwious.

The Applicani contended that the five (5) | auxite and Alumina
Conpanies cannot, for the purposes of Section Ll {l). be consideraed ag an
undertaliing in which an Industrial Dispute can enist.

In this regard Counsel for the Applicani cited and relied upon

2._v. INDUSTRIAL DISPUTES TRI.UMAL EX PARTE COURNGE. 3 AJNLR. at page 12

as authority for the »roposition that undertaliing ic used in xelatcion to &

unit within an induastry.

Upon an ciamination of the definition of “Cecllective FPargainin:
onc sees that the Act predicates a situation where negotiations can be
conducted ”hetwegn onc or uorc organizations representing workers and cither

Jeun
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one or more employers, or one or more organizations representing cmplovers

ox a combination of one or moxe organization representing cmployers.

Having regard tc the definition of collective bargaining it is
conceivable that during negotiations between one organization representing
workers and more than one employer a dispute may arise.

In the definition of "éollective l&rgailning®, Parliament has made
it possible for morc than one undertaking to join forces or combine to
negotiate with onc or more than one organization representing workers.

Any dispute which arises in the above given situation would be
a dispute with each undertaking involved in the necgotiations. Put anothex
way. it would be a dispute with each and all the undertakings represented
in the combination.

Where by practice or custom an amalgam of employers are accustomed
to negotiate together with an organization representing workers, a
situation recognised by the Act, then surely any dispute so arising nust
be properly referable by the Minister to ‘the Tribunal as a dispute with an
undertaking, bearing in mind that the Interpretation Act states that the
singular shall include the plural.

It is clear that the purpose of allowing amalgans to negotiate
is one of convenience ensuring, at the same time. consistency in the
agreements arrived at within a particular industry such as the .auxite
and Alumina Industry.

REFLRENCE

The Applicant contended that the reference by the Minister

dated April 10, 1981 was had in law for the following reasons:

(@) The reference is vague in that it docs not
identify in definite texms the dispute,

(b) Assuming the Court finds that a dispute exists,

then it ic five disputes with five different Companies

and therefore not properly referable in one reference

since a separate award would be required in respect

of each company.
() The reference included matters which did not form part

of the negotiations, namely, the local level claims and

the Companies amendments.
Dealing with the first of the reasons sot out above, in a decision
of the Full Court of the Supreme Court of Jamaica in Re Sun Enterpriscs

Limited (1576) 14 J.L.R. p.197, it was held in refusing a motion for an

YO
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oxder of certiorari that :-

"It is not a valid ground for the issue¢ of certiorari

that in a reference by the Minister of Lahour and

Employment, acting under section ¢ of the Labour

Relations and Industrial Disputes Act 1975, of a

dispute in an cssential sexrvice to the Industrial

Dispute Tribunal the Minister does not identify +the

nature of the issues to be resolved by the Tribunal."

The terms of reference in the case cited were as follows :%

"To determine and settle the dispute between Sun

Enterprises Linited, on the one hand, and certain

workers employed by the Company members of the N,W.U.

on the other hand.”

In the instant case the terms of refererce go beyond that in Re Sun
Interprises Limited supra, in that it gives particular® of the dispute.

The Full Court in its judgment cited with approval the observation
of Loxrd Denning in leetham v, Trinidad Cement Limited (1960) 1 A.&.Ik.
p. 274 at page 280. In beetham's case an avgument similar to that put
forward by Mr. Rattray was urged when a reference was made to a Tribunal
for settlement but tlie nature of the diswvute was not stated in specific
terpg. Loxrd Denning had this to say:-

“Then it was said that the Governor did not make

a valid reference to the oard of snguiry becausc

he did not, in the minute of appointment, specify

the nature of the dispute. There is nothing in this
point. If there is a dispute in existence, the
parties must know of it and there is no need to tell
them about it. They may not bc able to formulate

it themselves; at that stage, or at any rate, not
precisely. Sc, how can the Governor be expected
to do so? Suffice it for it to be fcrmulated by

the parties themselves, when they get before the poard."”

I have already indicated that I am oi the view that there was
only one dispute. Assuming that I have erred in so holding and that
there are five disputes with five separate Companies, the objection taken
to the reference is, in ny view, technical only.

Section 20 of the Act provides:-
"subject to the provisions of this Act the Tribunal
and a Ioard nmay regulate their procedure and proceedings
as they think fit."”
This section empowers the Tribunal, even if separate references werxa
made, to hear the matter in a consolidated foxm. The maxim “"De ninimus
non curat lex® would be applicable to the situation.

I find as a fact that the documents KSP II anad K.S.2.III the

[oone

%33




- 76 -

tabling of waich gave rise to the dispute, embraced all the
three constituents of tine claims whicih would eventually result
in a collective agreement. The Companies had clearly indicated
from as early as January 1981, that they were dealing with a
package situation which involved all aspects of the claim. It
is conceded by all the parties that all aspects of the claim
nave been included in tine reference., In the event that tliis
has been improperly done, I would be prepared to order tnat such
aspects of tne claim wihich have not properly been included in
the reference be severed therefrom. However, such an order

is unnecessary, as I hold that all aspects of the claim were

properly included in tne reference.

I, therefore, nold that the reference is valid.

JURISDICTION:

The question as to whether or not the jurisdiction of
the Tribunal still subsists is, in my view, the main tarust of
the Applicant's case.

Thie Tribunal's jurisdiction is derived from section 12
subsections (1) and (2) of the Act. Section 12 subsection (1)
states: -

"Subject to the provisions of subsection (2)
of the Tribunal shall, in respect of any
industrial dispute referred to it, make its
award within twenty-one days after tiat
dispute was so referred, Qr if it ig

impracticable to make the award within that

period it shall do so as soon ag may be
practicable and shall cause a copy of the

award to be given forthwith to each of the
parties and to the Minister.

"(2) The period of twenty-one days specified in
subsection (1) may be extended by the Tribunal

(a) for a further period not exceeding
twenty-one days at tie recuest of any
of the parties;

/e
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- beyond a maximum period of forty-two days from the date of
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(b) for such furtier period beyond that
specified in paragrapi: (a) as the
Tribunal may, with tine agreement of
the parties, determine.”

Tne Applicant contends that tihe provisions of section 12
are mandatory and tnat in any event thne words "as soon as may

be practicable" cannot serve to extend the life of the Tribunal

reference. It is furtiher contended by the Applicant that the

Tribunal, not having made its award wit.ain forty-two days of
the date of tne reference, is now functus officio.

The Respondents, on tae other nand, contend tiat tae
provisions of section 12 are directory and that the jurisdiction
of tihe Tribunal has not lapsed with tiie effluxion of time.

It, therefore, arises for consideration whether the
provisions of section 12 are mandatory or directory. What are
tue principles by whichh a Court must be guided in resolving
the issue?

In Montreal Street Rail Company v. Normandin (1917)

A.C. 170, Sir Arthur Channell opined:- |
"The question whether the provisions in a
statute are directory or imperative has
frequently arisen in this country, but it has
been said that no general rule can be laid 1
down and that in every case tiae object of tie
statute must be looked at."”

This view is supported in Halsbury's Laws of England 3rd Edition,

Vol. 36 paragrapns ©55 and 656. Tine principles cited make it

clear that tiie answer to the gquestion is not solely dependent

on the words used in the statute but that a Court in seeking to

determine the question must nave regard to tne scope and object

of the Legislature.

When the Act is viewed as a whole it is clear tnat the

=3

object of the Legislature is to ensure the expeditious settlemen
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of disputes arising under the Act. It may, therefore, be said
that time is of the essence, hence the Legislature prescribes

a period of twenty-one days for the handing down of an award
by the Tribunal, However, the specified period is qualified
by the introduction of the words "or if it is impracticable to
make the award within that period it shall do so as soon as may
be practicable."”

When a specified time for the performance of an act
is qualified by words which are of a permissive nature, then it
is my view that it reflects the intention of Parliament to
make the provisions directory as opposed to mandatory.

Notwitnstanding the directory nature of the provisions
it is necessary to ascertain the meaning and significance of
the words "or if it is impracticable to make the award within
that period it shall do so as soon as may be practicable."”

In the absence of clear judicial interpretation of a
word, then such word must be given its ordinary meaning. In
ascertaining the ordinary meaning of a word, the Court may rely
upon the meaning given in well known and authoritative
dictationaries.

Websters Third New International Dictionary defines
'impracticable' as: Not practicable; incapable of being
performed or accomplished by the means employed or at command; i
infeasible. "Practicable" is defined by the same work as
meaning capable of being put into practice, done or accomplished,
feasible.

From the meanings ascribed to the words impracticable
and practicable, it is my considered opinion that the qualifying
words in Section 12(1) cannot be interminable in their effect

upon the specified period of twenty-one days. There has to be
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a point in time woen trnie words cease to be applicable. Put %
inelegantly, there has to be a cut-off point.

The Applicant has directly challenged the jurisdiction
of the Tribunal. When there is suchh a challenge the burden
of proving absence of jurisdiction rests upon the party making |

the challenge. See Judicial Review of Administrative Action by

S.A, de Smith, 3rd Edition, at page 104.

Has the Applicant discharged the burden which rests
upon it to show that the jurisdiction has lapsed by the
effluxion of time? that is, that it was not impracticable to
make the award within twenty-one days and that even if it were, |
then it has not been done as soon as may be practicable.

The Affidavit of Mr, L.M. Tomlinson, Acting Chairman
of the Industrial Disputes Tribunal is of assistance in resolving
this issue.

The Affidavit sets out the difficulties under which
the Tribunal operates physically., the work-load of the Tribunal,
the fact that all other Divisions of the Tribunal had been
engaged in hearing other disputes; the failure of the parties
to submit their briefs in the required time and the fact taht
a new division of the Tribunal had to be constituted owing to
the unavailability of the Chairman of the original panel appointed

to hear the matter. These conditions, Mr. Tomlinson says, made

it impracticable for the Tribunal to have handed down its award |

within twenty-one days of the reference. |
It has been contended by the applicant that Tomlinson'L

1

affidavit does not specifically deal with circumstances which |
would have made it impracticable, for the particular Division

of the Tribunal appointed to hear the matter to hand down its

award within twenty-one days.

Loon
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However, I hold that it may be reasonably inferred
from the facts deposed to by Mr. Tomlinson that the Tribunal
as a whole would have been affected by these conditions.

The Applicant has not produced any evidence to
contradict Mr, Tomlinson's affidavit. What it has sought to
do is, by critical analysis of the contents thereof and an
examination of the evidence as a whole, destroy the effect of
Mr. Tomlinson's affidavit.

I am not satisfied tanat this objective has been
achieved.

I hold, on the totality of the evidence, that it was
impracticable for the Tribunal to have made its awaxrd within
twenty-one days of the reference and that any award handed
down would come within the ambit of the words: "It shall do

SO as soon as may be practicable."

I would therefore order that the Order Nisi be discharge

and the Motion dismissed.
Finally, there are two observations I would wish to
make.
l. The summary manner in which the Tribunal dealt
with Counsel who appeared on the 10th of July, 1981
to make submissions on behalf of his client as to
the jurisdiction of the Tribunal is to be deprecated.
Section 16, sub~-section 1 of the Act gives a party
concerned in any matter before the Tribunal the right to be
represented by Counsel, There is a duty on the Tribunal
to hear any counsel who appears before it on behalf of an
interested party.
2, It is incumbent on the Powers that be to ensure

that the Tribunal is put in a position where the
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intention of Parliament as set out in the Act
may be given effect to. The spirit and
(:] intendment of the Act is to ensure the

| expeditious settlement of disputes by the
Tribunal. To speak of expedition and to allow
the conditions deposed to by Mr, Tomlinson
to exist is to pay lip service to expedition,
I can only hope that the situation will be speedily

remedied so that the Tribunal can efficaciously proceed with

< f* the task with whichi it has been entrusted.

SMITH, C.J.

By majority decision of the Court, the application is dismissed.i

The cost of the Tribunal and of the Companies, to be taxed or agreed, are

[

to be paid by the Union.
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